

# LUND UNIVERSITY

### Pinpointing the Association between Obesity and Cancer Risk

Sun, Ming

2024

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Sun, M. (2024). *Pinpointing the Association between Obesity and Cancer Risk*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Pinpointing the Association between Obesity and Cancer Risk

#### MING SUN

DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES, LUND | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY







Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:154 ISBN 978-91-8021-651-7 ISSN 1652-8220



Pinpointing the Association between Obesity and Cancer Risk

# Pinpointing the Association between Obesity and Cancer Risk

Ming Sun



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University. To be publicly defended on 13<sup>th</sup> of December 2024 at 13:00 in Agardhsalen, Clinical Research Centre, Jan Waldenströms gata 35, Malmö

> Faculty opponent Professor Gillian Reeves Nuffield Department of Population Health University of Oxford

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

**Document name:** Doctoral Dissertation

Author(s): Ming Sun

#### Date of issue 2024-12-13

#### Sponsoring organization

Title and subtitle: Pinpointing the association of obesity with cancer risk

#### Abstract:

Obesity is an increasingly prevalent health burden worldwide and has been linked to an increased risk of cancer. Body mass index (BMI) has been associated with 13 cancers with sufficient evidence, but there is little evidence regarding rarer cancers and cancer subtypes. Moreover, the interactions between obesity and other factors are largely unknown. This thesis aimed to identify further potential obesity-related cancers using BMI, and to contrast waist circumference (WC) and BMI regarding the risk of such cancers. Another aim was to investigate BMI in combination and interaction with metabolic aberrations and leisure-time physical activity (PA) in relation to obesity-related cancer risk.

This thesis comprises four papers which were all based on large, pooled cohort studies from Sweden or northern Europe. Individuals in the study population were matched with data from national cancer registers to identify cancer diagnoses. Hazard ratios (HRs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were estimated by multivariable-adjusted Cox regression models with attained age as the underlying time metric. Multiplicative and additive interaction were also assessed.

We identified 15 cancers in men and 16 in women (18 altogether) as potential obesity-related cancers in addition to the 13 already established types (Paper I). The HR (95% CI) per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI was 1.17 (1.15-1.20) in men and 1.13 (1.11-1.15) in women for potential obesity-related cancers overall. The magnitudes of the associations were largely comparable to those of the already established obesityrelated cancers. For WC, positive associations were found for nearly all obesity-related cancers (Paper II). Compared to BMI, WC was a slightly stronger risk factor for obesity-related cancers in men (HR 1.19 vs.1.25), but not in women (HR 1.13 vs.1.13). WC residuals were more strongly associated with obesityrelated cancer risk in men than women (HR. 1.09, 95% CI 1.06-1.12 vs.1.03, 1.02-1.05). Metabolically unhealthy obesity was associated with an increased risk of any obesity-related cancer (men: HR 1.91. 95% CI 1.74-2.09; women 1.43, 1.35-1.51) and several separate cancers (Paper III). Metabolically healthy obesity showed a higher relative risk for any obesity-related cancer and some of the separate cancers, though the relationships were weaker. Positive additive interactions between BMI and metabolic health status were found for the risk of obesity-related and rectal cancer among men and endometrial cancer among women. This study highlights the importance of the type of metabolic obesity phenotype when assessing obesity-related cancer risk. High leisure-time PA was associated with a 7% (95% CI 4%-10%) lower risk of any obesity-related cancer compared to low PA, with similar associations amongst individuals with a low and a high BMI (6% and 7%), and was associated with decreased risks of renal cell and colon cancer (Paper IV). There were no interactions between PA and BMI on cancer risk. This study suggests a reduced risk of obesity-related cancer through leisure-time PA in both individuals with normal-weight and overweight. In summary, keeping a normal weight or metabolically healthy status, or reducing weight through measures such as engaging in PA, can help reduce the risk of many cancers. Key words: obesity, body mass index, waist circumference, metabolic status, physical activity, cancer, obesity-related cancer, risk

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)

Supplementary bibliographical information

Language: English

Recipient's notes

ISSN and key title: 1652-8220

ISBN: 978-91-8021-651-7

Price

Security classification

Number of pages: 89

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2024-10-24

# Pinpointing the Association between Obesity and Cancer Risk

Ming Sun

孙铭



Coverphoto by Zeduan Zhang Copyright pp 1-89 Ming Sun

Paper 1 © Sun et al, 2024 Paper 2 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Paper 3 © Sun et al, 2023 Paper 4 © Sun et al, 2022

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund

ISBN 978-91-8021-651-7 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2024



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📲

I cannot choose the best, the best chooses me.

— Rabindranath Tagore

# Table of Contents

List of papers	
Papers included in this thesis	
Papers not included in this thesis	
Thesis at a glance	13
Popular scientific summary	14
Abbreviations	16
Background	17
Obesity	17
Definition of obesity	
Epidemiology of obesity	
Obesity indicators	
Diverse obesity phenotypes	
Health implications of obesity	
Metabolic risk factors	21
Physical activity	22
Cancer	23
Epidemiology of cancer	
Risk factors for cancer	
Obesity-related cancer	25
Metabolic risk factors and cancer risk	29
PA and cancer risk	30
Aims	31
Overall aim	31
Specific aims	
Methods	32
Study populations	32
The Obesity and Disease Development Sweden (ODDS) study	
The Metabolic Syndrome and Cancer (Me-Can) project	
The Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (MDCS)	
Assessment of exposures	
Body mass index	
Dody mass much	

Waist circumference Blood pressure, glucose, and triglycerides Leisure-time physical activity	35
Assessment of covariates	36
Follow-up and outcome assessment	37
Selection Missing data on main exposures Extreme values Prevalent cancers	38 38
Statistical analysis	
Cox proportional hazards regression Restricted cubic spline Cumulative incidence estimation Interaction analysis Regression dilution ratio Strategies for managing missing data	40 41 41 42
Ethical considerations	43
Results	45
Paper I Body mass index and risk of cancers	
Paper II Waist circumference and risk of obesity-related cancers	51
Paper III	55
Metabolic health status and body mass index and risk of obesity- related cancers	55
Paper IV	
Leisure-time physical activity and body mass index and risk of obesity-related cancers	
Discussion	63
Main findings	
Methodological considerations Study design Bias Confounding Type I and type II errors and statistical power	67 67 68 69
Strengths and limitations	70
Public health implication	71
Conclusion	72

Future perspectives	73
References	74

## List of papers

### Papers included in this thesis

- I. Sun M, da Silva M, Bjørge T, Fritz J, Mboya IB, Jerkeman M, Stattin P, Wahlström J, Michaëlsson K, van Guelpen B, Magnusson PKE, Sandin S, Yin W, Lagerros YT, Ye W, Nwaru BI, Kankaanranta H, Lönnberg L, Chabok A, Isaksson K, Pedersen NL, Elmståhl S, Lind L, Hedman L, Häggström C, Stocks T. Body mass index and risk of over 100 cancer forms and subtypes in 4.1 million individuals in Sweden: the Obesity and Disease Development Sweden (ODDS) pooled cohort study. Lancet Reg Health Eur. 2024;45:101034.
- II. Sun M, Häggström C, da Silva M, Mboya I.B, Trolle Lagerros Y, Michaëlsson K, Sandin S, Leppert J, Hägg S, Elmståhl S, Magnusson P.K.E, Wood A, Stocks T\*, Fritz J\*. Comparing waist circumference with body mass index on obesity-related cancer risk: a pooled Swedish study. Manuscript. \*Equal contribution.
- III. Sun M, Fritz J, Häggström C, Bjørge T, Nagel G, Manjer J, Engeland A, Zitt E, van Guelpen B, Stattin P, Ulmer H, Stocks T. Metabolically (un)healthy obesity and risk of obesity-related cancers: a pooled study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2023;115(4):456-467.
- IV. Sun M, Bjørge T, Teleka S, Engeland A, Wennberg P, Häggström C, Stocks T. Interaction of leisure-time physical activity with body mass index on the risk of obesity-related cancers: a pooled study. Int J Cancer. 2022;151(6):859-868.

#### Papers not included in this thesis

- I. da Silva M, Fritz J, Mboya IB, Sun M, Wahlström J, van Guelpen B, Michaëlsson K, Magnusson PKE, Melander O, Sandin S, Yin W, Trolle Lagerros Y, Nwaru B, Leppert J, Chabok A, Pedersen NL, Elmståhl S, Isaksson K, Ingvar C, Hedman L, Backman H, Häggström C, Stocks T. Cohort profile: The Obesity and Disease Development Sweden (ODDS) study, a pooled cohort. BMJ Open. 2024;14(7):e084836.
- II. Mboya IB, Fritz J, da Silva M, Sun M, Wahlström J, Magnusson PKE, Sandin S, Yin W, Söderberg S, Pedersen NL, Lagerros YT, Nwaru BI, Kankaanranta H, Chabok A, Leppert J, Backman H, Hedman L, Isaksson K, Michaëlsson K, Häggström C, Stocks T. Time trends of the association of body mass index with mortality in 3.5 million young Swedish adults. Ann Epidemiol. 2024;97:23-32.

## Thesis at a glance

Paper and cohort	Aims	Methods	Main results
I ODDS	To identify further potential obesity- related cancers and cancer subtypes and to quantify the association between BMI and all potential obesity-related cancers relative to that of all established ones.	We calculated HRs for the association between BMI in categories (<25/30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) and per 5 kg/m <sup>2</sup> higher BMI in relation to the risk of 122 cancers and cancer subtypes, grouped by topography and morphology in 4,142,349 individuals using Cox regression models. Potential sex interactions and the heterogeneity of HR between cancer subtypes were considered when identifying potential obesity-related cancers.	We identified 15 cancers in men and 16 in women (18 altogether) as potential obesity-related cancers. The magnitudes of the associations for potential obesity-related cancers were largely comparable to those of the already established obesity-related cancers.
II ODDS	To contrast WC and BMI on the risk of obesity-related cancers overall and for specific sites, and to determine whether WC provides additional risk information beyond that already included in BMI.	We calculated HRs for WC and BMI on obesity-related cancer risk among 339,190 individuals using Cox regression models. The WC residual calculated from WC regressed on BMI was included in the Cox model alongside BMI to quantify the additional risk information that WC provides beyond BMI.	Compared to BMI, WC was a slightly stronger risl factor for obesity-related cancers in men, but not in women. WC residuals were associated with obesity-related cancer risl and the association was stronger in men than in women.
III Me-Can	To investigate the association of metabolic status in combination and interaction with BMI, in relation to the risk of obesity-related cancer overall and for specific sites.	We investigated BMI (18.5-24.9, 25-29.9, ≥30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) jointly and in interaction with metabolic health status, assessed using a metabolic score comprising mid-BP, plasma glucose, and triglycerides, in relation to obesity-related cancer risk among 797,193 individuals using the Cox regression model.	Metabolically unhealthy obesity was associated with higher risks of obesity-related cancers, while metabolically healthy obesity also posed a risk, albeit with weaker associations. Additive interactions were found for obesity-related and rectal cancer among men and endometrial cancer in women.
IV Parts of Me-Can & MDCS	To investigate the association of leisure-time PA, its combination with BMI, and its interaction with BMI, in relation to the risk of obesity-related cancers overall and for specific sites.	We examined the association of leisure-time PA (high/low) and its combination with BMI, (<25/≥25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) on obesity-related cancer risk in 570,021 individuals using Cox regression models. Multiplicative and additive. interactions between PA and BMI on obesity-related cancer risk were assessed.	Moderate to hard leisure- time PA was associated with lower risk of obesity- related cancer overall. No interaction with BMI was found although higher PA together with low-to- normal weight was associated with the lowes risk.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; HR, hazard ratio; BP, blood pressure; PA, physical activity. ODDS, Obesity and Disease Development Sweden; Me-Can, Metabolic Syndrome and Cancer Project; MDCS, Malmö Diet and Cancer Study.

## Popular scientific summary

Obesity is a major global health problem, and most people know that it increases the risk of conditions such as cardiovascular disease and diabetes. However, what is less known is that obesity is also linked to an increased risk of developing cancer. But does it affect all cancers in the same way? This thesis aimed to find out more about how obesity, body size measurements, and metabolic health affect cancer risk, and how exercise can reduce the risk of cancer. Another focus was on rarer cancers and cancer subtypes.

We know that being overweight or obese can cause common cancers, such as breast, colorectal, and endometrial cancers. However, this study, which looked at data from large populations over many years, found that obesity could be linked to many cancers in men and women. These include some rarer cancers, such as cancers of the endocrine organs and haematological malignancies. If future studies show that all these cancers are found to be related to obesity, obesity-related cancers could account for up to 40% of all cancers in Sweden. In another study, we show that waist circumference may be a stronger risk factor for obesity-related cancers in men. While BMI gives a general idea of body fat, waist circumference focuses more on abdominal fat.

The thesis did not just look at overall weight, but also at how metabolic health, assessed as a combination of blood pressure, blood lipids and blood sugar, affects cancer risk. Metabolic health refers to how well the body manages, for example, blood sugar and cholesterol. Some people are considered 'metabolically healthy' even if they are overweight, while others may have conditions like high blood pressure – signs of 'metabolically unhealthy' obesity. This study found that metabolically unhealthy obesity is a big cancer risk. People with this condition were much more likely to develop cancers such as colorectal, pancreatic, liver, and kidney cancers. Even people with metabolically healthy obesity – who do not have any metabolic problems such as high blood pressure, glucose, and triglycerides – had a higher risk of certain cancers, but this risk was not as high as in those with metabolic problems. Metabolic health is therefore an important factor in cancer risk.

Given the multiple risk factors of obesity-related cancers that people are exposed to, it is important to know how we can reduce this risk. This study highlights the importance of physical activity. People who regularly took part in leisure-time physical activity – such as walking, jogging, or swimming – had about a 7% lower risk of obesity-related cancers. This protective effect did not just apply to people of normal weight, but also to those who were overweight or obese. This means that staying active can lower the cancer risk, no matter the person's weight.

This study shows the harm caused by overweight and obesity. Even if a person is overweight, maintaining metabolic health with, for example, healthy blood pressure and blood sugar, can reduce the risk of obesity-related cancers. Regular physical activity is also important. This does not mean marathon running to benefit; regular moderate activity such as walking or swimming can significantly reduce the risk of cancer. Importantly, this protection works regardless of whether the person is of a healthy weight or obese. Improving metabolic health and maintaining an active lifestyle can make a big difference, and these lifestyles can help reduce the risks of developing many types of cancer.

## Abbreviations

AIC	Akaike information criterion
BMI	Body mass index
BP	Blood pressure
CI	Confidence interval
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HR	Hazard ratio
IARC	International Agency for Research on Cancer
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
IQR	Interquartile range
MAR	Missing at random
Me-Can	Metabolic Syndrome and Cancer Project
MET	Metabolic equivalent of task
MI	Multiple imputation
ODDS	Obesity and Disease Development Sweden
PA	Physical activity
PH	Proportional hazards
RDR	Regression dilution ratio
RERI	Relative excess risk due to interaction
RR	Relative risk
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SD	Standard deviation
WC	Waist circumference
WCRF	World Cancer Research Fund

# Background

## Obesity

### **Definition of obesity**

Obesity is a chronic complex condition defined as an excessive accumulation of body fat that may impair health. The most common measurement used to assess obesity is body mass index (BMI) – an individual's weight in kilograms divided by the square of height in meters (kg/m<sup>2</sup>). According to the classification made by the World Health Organization (WHO), an adult with a BMI 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> or above has obesity, while one with a BMI 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup> or above, and less than 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> is classified as overweight<sup>1</sup>. In some Asia-Pacific countries, classifications with lower cutoffs are used<sup>2</sup>. Obesity can be caused by many factors, including excess food intake and positive energy balance, physical inactivity, psychological factors, sleep deprivation, as well as genetics and family history.





OurWorldInData.org/obesity | CC BY



### **Epidemiology of obesity**

Obesity is an increasingly prevalent health burden worldwide (Figure 1). From 1990 to 2022, the prevalence of obesity in adults increased in 188 countries (94%) for women and in all except one country for men<sup>3</sup>. The age-standardised prevalence increased from 3.2% (interquartile range [IQR] = 2.4-4.1) in 1975 to 14.0% (IQR = 13.4-14.6) in 2022 in men, and from 6.4% (IQR = 5.1-7.8) to 18.5% (IQR = 17.9-19.1) in women<sup>3,4</sup>. This proportion is expected to rise to 23% and 27% for men and women respectively by 2035<sup>5</sup>. In 2022, about 16% adults lived with obesity, and 43% were living with overweight.

In addition to sex, the prevalence and trend largely differ across the regions and levels of economic development. The Americas, Europe, and Eastern Mediterranean are the regions with the highest prevalence of obesity (Figure 2). By 2035, obesity prevalence in low to lower middle-income countries is expected to rise faster in both men and women, although the prevalence is still relatively low by then compared with upper-middle to high-income countries<sup>5</sup>. In 2021, more than three million deaths were attributed to obesity, ranking sixth of all risk factors. There was a 34% increase in disability-adjusted life-years due to high BMI from 2010 to 2019<sup>6</sup>. By 2035, on current trends, overweight and obesity are estimated to cost over USD 4 trillion, nearly 3% of current global gross domestic product (GDP)<sup>5</sup>.



Figure 2. Prevalence of obesity in adults. 1975-2016, adapted from OurWorldInData.org/obesity

In Sweden, the prevalence of obesity has risen over recent decades, in line with the global trend, and is at a high level in relation to the rest of the world<sup>7,8</sup>. According to the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare, the prevalence of obesity in adults increased from 11% to 15% from 2004 to 2020, and obesity is more prevalent in the northern regions compared to the southern parts. In 2016, the cost for obesity was EUR 2.7 billion, mainly due to production loss caused by premature death (28%) and permanent sick leave (37%). Only 18% of the cost was used in the health and social care sectors<sup>9</sup>.

#### **Obesity indicators**

BMI is a widely used indicator of adiposity as it is simple and cheap to measure. However, BMI only reflects a comparison of weight and height rather than the distribution of fat mass and lean mass, especially for people with low muscle and high body fat content and people with increased body fat and normal BMI. The degree of correlation between BMI and measures of adiposity depends on multiple factors such as sex and age. A study showed that BMI reflected percentage body fat better in women than men (0.80 vs. 0.77)<sup>10</sup>. Women have relatively more fat mass compared to men. These correlation coefficients tend to decrease with increasing age in both men and women<sup>11,12</sup>. One explanation is that BMI may overestimate obesity in older adults due to a loss of physiological height<sup>13</sup>. Moreover, the gain in fat mass and loss of lean mass in older people is not correctly reflected through BMI, so BMI is a suboptimal marker for percentage body fat in older people<sup>14</sup>.

Waist circumference (WC), measured midway between the lower rib margin and the iliac crest or at the umbilical level, is a frequently used indicator as a proxy for central obesity. Central obesity refers to the excessive accumulation of fat especially in the abdominal region, also known as abdominal fat, which can be further categorised into visceral fat and subcutaneous fat. Although WC is strongly correlated with BMI (Pearson correlation ~0.90), WC captures more specifically abdominal fat mass, which is more metabolically active. It has been suggested to better discriminate risks associated with obesity for different diseases.

Investigation into the correlation between obesity indicators showed that the strength of the correlation depends on multiple factors, such as sex and age. A study showed that BMI correlated slightly more strongly with WC in women than in men (Pearson correlation 0.91 vs. 0.88). This can be partly explained by differences in fat distribution patterns, with men tending to have a greater prevalence of abdominal adiposity than women<sup>10</sup>.

Studies also investigated the correlation between obesity indicators and obesityrelated biomarkers, such as insulin, C-reactive protein, triglycerides, cholesterol, and glucose<sup>10,15</sup>. In comparison to other obesity indicators such as percentage body fat, BMI and WC reflected obesity-related metabolic risk better. Among these biomarkers, insulin was most correlated with BMI and WC. WC appears to be a better predictor compared to BMI<sup>16,17</sup>, but the correlation coefficients were comparable<sup>10</sup>. However, because of the complexity of measuring WC due to the heterogeneity of anatomical measurement sites, the reproducibility of WC measurements is considerably lower than that of BMI, which limits the estimation of health risk at an individual level.

#### **Diverse obesity phenotypes**

Obesity is a heterogeneous condition. In addition to general obesity, which is defined using BMI, there are more other distinct obesity phenotypes and classifications that differ in fat distribution, cause of obesity, and subsequent health consequences. The risk of disease varies between individuals with the same BMI, as it does not differentiate between body composition, body fat distribution, and adipocyte function. As a result, the concept of central obesity has emerged, characterised by an excessive accumulation of fat around the abdomen. This has also led to the concept of different body composition phenotypes that incorporate both BMI and metabolic health<sup>18,19</sup>, which was often referred to as metabolically healthy/unhealthy obesity in recent studies, i.e., obesity with or without metabolic aberrations. Sarcopenic obesity, an obesity phenotype common in elderly, is a combination of two conditions, sarcopenia and obesity, characterised by a concurrent decline in muscle mass and function, along with increased adipose tissue<sup>20</sup>. The risk of sarcopenic obesity increases with age owing to sedentary lifestyles in older populations.

#### Health implications of obesity

Obesity develops when energy intake exceeds energy expenditure from metabolic and physical activity (PA). Excessive or abnormal accumulation of adipose tissue may cause metabolic, inflammatory, and immunologic alterations through multiple pathways affecting deoxyribonucleic acid repair, gene function, and cell mutation rate, leading to increased risk for many diseases. Obesity is a serious threat to public health, accounting for a large proportion of the global burden of non-communicable diseases. Obesity is associated with premature mortality from type II diabetes, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, and certain cancers. Conditions that are not inflammatory but are caused by mechanical stress due to increased weight, such as osteoarthritis and sleep apnoea<sup>21,22</sup>, also affect quality of life. Recent studies have reported an association between obesity and infectious diseases, particularly viral infections<sup>23,24</sup>.

## Metabolic risk factors

The metabolic risk factors generally refer to raised blood pressure (BP), impaired fasting glucose, low high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol levels, high triglycerides level, as well as overweight/obesity, which are established risk factors of cardiovascular diseases. An increasing number of studies have investigated the association between these factors and other non-communicable diseases, including eye conditions, dementia, and cancer.

BP is the pressure of circulating blood against the walls of blood vessels. Hypertension, or elevated BP is defined as systolic BP (SBP)  $\geq$  140 mmHg and/or diastolic BP (DBP)  $\geq$  90 mmHg according to the European Society of Hypertension<sup>25</sup>. High BP is classified as primary (essential) hypertension which is due to genetic factors and lifestyle such as excess salt, excess body weight, smoking, physical inactivity, and alcohol use. Primary hypertension accounts for 90-95% of hypertension cases. Secondary hypertension is due to other diseases or the use of certain medications<sup>26</sup>. Hypertension is a major risk factor cardiovascular disease such as stroke and coronary artery disease, vision loss, chronic kidney disease, and dementia, and is a major cause of premature death<sup>27-29</sup>.

Glucose is the primary source of energy for cells in the human body. When too much glucose circulates in the blood plasma, it can result in hyperglycaemia. This condition occurs when the body either produces insufficient insulin or fails to use it effectively. Hyperglycaemia commonly occurs in people with diabetes<sup>30</sup>. In type I diabetes, the body produces insufficient insulin. In type II diabetes, the body fails to use insulin effectively, which is called insulin resistance. Long-term hyperglycaemia can lead to health problems that affect the eyes, kidneys, nerves and cardiovascular system.

Triglycerides are the main constituents of body fat in humans. They are also present in the blood to enable the bidirectional transference of adipose fat and blood glucose from the liver<sup>31</sup>. Hypertriglyceridemia is positively associated with obesity and insulin resistance<sup>32</sup>, and increases the risk of atherosclerosis and other cardiovascular diseases. Lifestyle changes, including reduced intake of sugar, refined carbohydrates, and alcohol, and doing exercise, along with medication, are vital to managing hypertriglyceridemia.

Cholesterol is a type of lipid with many functions. Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol makes up the majority of the body's cholesterol. Excess LDL cholesterol can build up on the walls of blood vessels, leading to heart disease and stroke. HDL cholesterol can absorb cholesterol in the blood and carry it back to the liver. Therefore, a higher level of HDL cholesterol can lower the risk for heart disease and stroke.

Rather than treating these metabolic risk factors as a single risk factor, some studies investigated them as a component of the metabolic syndrome. This is commonly a cluster of at least three of the following five conditions: obesity, high BP, high glucose, high serum triglycerides, and low serum HDL, which is defined differently by WHO<sup>33</sup> and the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III (ATP III)<sup>34</sup>. Studies have shown that metabolic syndrome defined by either the WHO or ATP III is positively associated with the risk of kidney disease<sup>35</sup>, diabetes<sup>36</sup>, and cardiovascular disease morbidity and mortality<sup>37,38</sup>.

## Physical activity

PA is defined as any physical movement produced by skeletal muscles that requires the expenditure of energy<sup>39</sup>. PA can be classified into household, transportation, occupational, and leisure-time PA according to the activity performed, or according to the intensity. Metabolic equivalents that describe intensity as oxygen uptake relative to a person's resting metabolic rate are commonly used to measure PA. PA affects several body systems, including endocrine, immune, and metabolic processes. As well as increasing oxygen uptake and improving cardiovascular function, engaging in PA can increase muscle strength and mass. The WHO recommends at least 150-300 minutes of moderate-intensity PA or 75-150 minutes of vigorous-intensity PA a week to reduce the risk of chronic non-communicable diseases<sup>40</sup>.

Overall, PA is beneficial for reducing the risk of a range of chronic diseases, including cardiovascular diseases, type II diabetes, and hypertension<sup>41-43</sup>. Numerous studies have demonstrated that individuals who engage in regular PA have lower risk of these conditions compared with those who are inactive. Mendelian randomisation studies also support this association<sup>44</sup>. Furthermore, a higher level of PA has been shown to reduce the risk of all-cause mortality<sup>45</sup>. The protective effect of PA is more pronounced in reducing the risk of death from cardiovascular diseases, which are among the leading causes of mortality worldwide<sup>46,47</sup>. Engaging in at least 150 minutes of moderate-intensity PA per week has been linked to a significant decrease in the risk of chronic diseases and premature death. An increasing number of studies also reported the association between PA and lower risk of mental disorders<sup>48,49</sup>.

Despite evidence of the benefits of PA, the association between PA and disease risk is not consistent across all populations. Differences in sex<sup>50,51</sup>, PA domains<sup>47,50,52,53</sup>, baseline health status<sup>54,55</sup>, and even seasonal variations<sup>45</sup> influence the association. A recent study suggests that women derived greater gains than men regarding all-cause and cardiovascular mortality risk reduction from equivalent amounts of PA<sup>51</sup>, potentially due to hormonal differences and varying patterns of fat distribution.

While the beneficial effect of leisure-time PA has been widely documented<sup>56,57</sup>, the association between occupational PA and health-related outcomes is inconsistent. Both favourable and unfavourable associations were found for mortality and risk of cardiovascular disease, cancer, and mental health, which may be due to confounding such as by socioeconomic status, and type, intensity, and environment of PA at work<sup>58-61</sup>. Otherwise, occupational PA is characterised by low intensity and long duration, heavy lifting or static postures, and insufficient recovery time might be the potential underlying mechanisms between occupational PA and increased risks of various diseases<sup>62</sup>. The type of PA that achieves the greatest reductions in risk remains to be determined.

## Cancer

### **Epidemiology of cancer**

Cancer is one of the leading causes of death globally. Every sixth death (16.8%) and every fourth (22.8%) non-communicable disease-related death worldwide is due to cancer. In 2022, there were 9.7 million deaths from cancer, 70% of which occurred in low- and middle-income countries<sup>63,64</sup>. There were almost 20 million new cancer cases in 2022, and the number is estimated to increase by 77% and reach 35 million by 2050. Europe has a disproportionately high burden of both cancer incidence and cancer mortality (Figure 3). With less than 10% of the global population, Europe accounts for one-fifth of global cancer cases (22.4%) and cancer deaths (20.4%). Breast cancer was the most common cancer in women, followed by lung and colorectal cancer. In men, lung cancer was the most commonly diagnosed cancer in 2022, followed by prostate and colorectal cancer. Cancer has been a major societal, public health, and economic problem in the 21st century. The global economic cost of cancers from 2020 to 2050 was estimated to be more than USD 25 trillion<sup>65</sup>.

In Sweden, cancer affects one out of three persons, with around 78,000 new cancer cases in 2022 and 63,000 deaths from cancer in 2020<sup>66</sup>. The highest number of new cases were diagnosed among those aged 65 years and above. The most common cancers are breast cancer in women and prostate cancer in men. From 2040, as many as 100,000 people are expected to develop cancer each year, and the costs are estimated to increase from SEK 34 billion in 2016 to around SEK 70 billion annually<sup>67</sup>.



Figure 3. Age-standardised rates of cancer per 100,000 person-year in 2022, adapted from Cancer TODAY|IARC.

### **Risk factors for cancer**

Various factors contribute to the development of cancer. Genetics plays a crucial role in certain cancers. A first-degree family history of cancer is related to a two to three times elevated risk of developing the same cancer<sup>68</sup>. Several risk loci have been identified for many common cancers, including cancers of the colorectum, breast, ovarian, prostate, and melanoma<sup>69-71</sup>. Advancing age is the most important risk factor for cancer overall and for many individual cancer forms. The median age of a cancer diagnosis is 66 years, but several cancers are more common in younger people, such as bone cancer, nervous system cancers, and haematological malignancies. Male sex is a risk factor for most cancers although it remains largely unexplained. A study showed that this disparity remained even after adjustment for a wide range of risk behaviours and carcinogenic exposures<sup>72</sup>. The results suggested the potential role of sex-related biological mechanisms in this relationship, such as differences in sex-steroid hormones, and genetic and epigenetic mechanisms.

Apart from these nonmodifiable factors mentioned above, some are modifiable risk factors such as lifestyle and environmental factors (Figure 4). Smoking contributes to approximately 30% of all cancers in the developed countries, causing over 90% of lung cancers, but also a high proportion of many other cancers, such as cancers of the mouth, oesophagus, stomach, colon, kidney, and bladder<sup>73</sup>. Not only cigarette, but also cigar, pipe, and smokeless tobacco use increases the risk of cancer. Alcoholic drinks have been associated with cancers of the mouth, oesophagus,

stomach, colorectal, breast, and liver<sup>74</sup>. Alcoholic drinks, regardless of the type of alcoholic drink consumed, can cause various cancers because ethanol contained in all alcohol is a carcinogenic compound. In addition to alcohol, diet-related factors including red meat, processed meat, and salt-preserved foods are convincing or probably associated with increased risks of colorectal and gastric cancer according to the World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research (WCRF/AICR) report<sup>74</sup>. At least seven viruses have been causally associated with cancer risk, including Epstein-Barr virus, hepatitis B virus, human papillomavirus virus, human T-cell lymphotropic virus, hepatitis C virus, Kaposi's sarcoma herpes virus, and Merkel cell polyomavirus<sup>75</sup>.



Figure 4. Major established modifiable cancer risk factors, adapted from IARC/WHO. https://cancerpreventioneurope.iarc.fr/preventable-cancers/

### **Obesity-related cancer**

High BMI was the third leading risk factor for cancer death worldwide after smoking and alcohol use among 34 environmental and occupational, behavioural, and metabolic risk factors, according to the Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors Study 2019<sup>76</sup>. The report from the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) in 2016 established the association between excess body fatness and 13 cancers with sufficient evidence, including cancers of the oesophagus

(adenocarcinoma), stomach (cardia), colorectum, liver, gallbladder, pancreas, breast (postmenopausal), endometrium, ovary, meningioma, thyroid, multiple myeloma, and renal cell carcinoma<sup>77</sup>. An umbrella review in 2017 based on 204 meta-analyses confirmed most of these as obesity-related cancers<sup>78</sup>. The WCRF/AICR report has also supported the association between obesity and risk of mouth, pharynx and larynx cancers and prostate cancer (advanced) with probable evidence<sup>79</sup>. Of these obesity-related cancers, supported by strong epidemiological evidence, the causal relationship with cancers of the oesophagus (adenocarcinoma), stomach (cardia), colorectum, liver, gallbladder, pancreas, endometrium, ovary, and kidney, have been further strengthened by Mendelian randomisation studies<sup>80,81</sup>.

In addition to BMI, other adiposity indicators have also been found to be associated with several cancers. The umbrella review showed a positive association between waist-to-hip ratio and risk of endometrial cancer with strong evidence. In addition, colon and pancreatic cancer were positively associated with waist-to-hip ratio and WC with suggestive evidence. Several large studies reported findings for more cancer types. A Spanish study involving 3.4 million adults showed positive associations between WC and risks of cancers of the colorectum, breast (postmenopausal), and endometrium<sup>82</sup>. A study based on the UK biobank reported that, in addition to BMI, at least one of the adiposity markers of WC, waist-to-height ratio, waist-to-hip ratio, hip circumference, and body fat percentage was associated with a higher risk of cancers of the stomach (cardia), colorectum, liver, gallbladder, kidney, breast (postmenopausal), and endometrium<sup>83</sup>.

Besides these cancers with sufficient evidence, more cancers have been suggested to be probably related to obesity but with limited evidence or inconsistent findings. The IARC report concluded that there was limited or inadequate evidence that excess body fatness increases the risk of cancers of the breast (male), prostate (fatal), diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, oesophagus (squamous-cell carcinoma), stomach (non-cardia), extrahepatic bile duct, lung, skin, testis, bladder, and brain<sup>77</sup>. The umbrella review also suggested leukaemia, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, and malignant melanoma (in men) to be potentially obesity-related with weak evidence<sup>78</sup>. Taken together, the inconclusive evidence on obesity and the risk of many cancers remains, as they are either rare or only weakly associated with BMI. More studies are needed with a large number of cases and a detailed cancer categorisation to provide evidence of these associations. Also, systematic reviews and meta-analysis studies on the relationship between cancer and obesity need to be updated, as numerous studies involving more cancer types have been published in recent years.

Multiple mechanisms have been hypothesised to underlie the link between obesity and cancer, involving chronic low-grade inflammation, insulin resistance, hormonal changes, and altered immune response<sup>84-86</sup>. Chronic inflammation in individuals with obesity produces pro-inflammatory cytokines that create an environment conducive to cancer development. Insulin resistance leads to elevated levels of insulin and IGF-1, which stimulates cell proliferation and reduces apoptosis, favouring cancer growth. Obesity also impairs immune function and increases oxidative stress, leading to DNA damage.

#### The most common obesity-related cancers, and those with highest risk in obesity

Colorectal cancer, also known as bowel cancer, is the most common obesity-related cancer in men. It is the development of cancer from the colon or rectum and is primarily adenocarcinoma (95%). Of all cancers, colorectal cancer has the third highest incidence worldwide, with over 1.9 million new cases in 2020<sup>64</sup>. It is less common in women than men. Sweden has one of the highest incidences of colorectal cancer worldwide. The incidence over the past few decades has continuously increased, while the mortality rate has fallen slightly<sup>87</sup>. Ageing, male sex, height, hereditary factors, and environmental factors (e.g., smoking, alcohol, and diet) are established risk factors. Obesity has been associated with a 30% increased risk of colorectal cancer compared to normal weight with sufficient evidence according to the IARC report, and it is more pronounced in men than in women. The umbrella review in 2017 concluded with strong evidence that colon and rectal cancer only among men are obesity-related cancers. This gender difference might be explained by sex differences in age of onset of obesity, prevalence, and age of onset of metabolic syndrome, or a protective effect of oestrogen<sup>88,89</sup>. When stratified by anatomical sites, colon cancer has been reported to have a stronger association with obesity compared to rectal cancer according to the WCRF/AICR report in 2017<sup>90</sup>. For colon cancer, there is no difference between proximal and distal cancer<sup>90</sup>. A non-linear dose-response relationship has been observed as the increased risk appeared to be greater when BMI was above  $27 \text{ kg/m}^2$ .

Breast cancer, of which 99% of cases occur in women, is the most common obesityrelated cancer and also the most common cancer among women worldwide, with 2.3 million new cases in  $2020^{63}$ . The incidence rates vary widely according to region. Breast cancer is the fifth most common cause of death from cancer in women, with an estimated 685,000 deaths in 2020, while survival rates are steadily increasing<sup>91</sup>. Female sex, hormone level, specific genes (e.g., BRCA, PTEN, and TP53), and lifestyle factors (alcohol and smoking) are established risk factors. The association between high BMI and breast cancer in women has been investigated in many studies, but there is some discordance between the findings in terms of menopause status, geographical location, and age at obesity onset. Postmenopausal breast cancer has been established to be associated with obesity with a 10-12% increase per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI<sup>77,79</sup>. The biological mechanism underlying this association is that, in postmenopausal women, oestrogen is produced in excess adipose tissue rather than by the ovaries, resulting in a multiplication of the oestrogen hormone in the blood, which may increase the probability of breast cancer<sup>92</sup>. Some studies showed a decreased risk of premenopausal breast cancer among individuals with obesity, but most of these studies were based on European and American women.

Studies among Asian or Oceanian women reported no or an opposite association<sup>93-95</sup>.

Endometrial cancer makes up the majority of corpus uteri and is the cancer with the strongest association with obesity. It occurs most frequently during perimenopause and arises from the epithelial lining of the uterine cavity. Endometrial cancer is the sixth most common cancer among women worldwide. There were 420,000 new cases in 2022, thereby accounting for around 5% of all new cancers in women and its incidence is rising globally<sup>63</sup>. Endometrial cancer is mainly a disease of highincome areas, especially North America and Central and Eastern Europe. The main risk factor is exposure to endogenous and exogenous oestrogens<sup>96</sup>. Obesity is a convincing risk factor of endometrial cancer according to the WCRF/AICR report. Approximately 40% of cases are thought to be attributable to obesity. According to the WCRF/AICR report, obesity is more strongly associated with the development of endometrial cancer than any other cancer type, with an increase of 50% per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI<sup>79</sup>. Women with obesity have a six-fold higher risk of developing endometrial cancer compared to those of normal weight<sup>77</sup>. The mechanisms through which obesity influences endometrial cancer include excess oestrogen exposure, insulin resistance, and pro-inflammatory state<sup>97</sup>. Type I endometrial cancer is the most common type, which primarily made up by endometrioid adenocarcinomas. Type II endometrial cancer includes uterine serous carcinomas and clear cell carcinomas, and is not linked to excess oestrogen. Fewer studies have investigated the association between obesity and endometrial cancer risk stratified by cancer subtypes. The pronounced risk for type I rather than type II tumours reported by a Norwegian study has not been confirmed<sup>98</sup>.

Oesophageal adenocarcinoma is one of the two main subtypes of oesophageal cancer and is one of the cancers with the strongest association with obesity. Oesophageal cancer ranks as the eleventh most common cancer and the seventh leading cause of cancer-related deaths globally<sup>63</sup>. It is more prevalent in men than women. There are two primary subtypes of oesophageal cancer, adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma. Squamous cell carcinoma, raising from the epithelial cells lining the oesophagus, is common in Eastern Asia and Eastern and Southern Africa, where it accounts for approximately 90% of oesophageal cancer cases  $^{63,99}$ . However, the incidence has declined in many regions, likely due to the reduced prevalence of two main risk factors, tobacco smoking and alcohol consumption<sup>100</sup>. Other risk factors include intake of red meat<sup>101</sup>, consumption of very hot beverages<sup>102</sup>, and genetics<sup>103</sup>. Adenocarcinoma arises from glandular cells present in the lower third of the oesophagus and is more prevalent in developed continents like Europe, North America, and Australia<sup>63,99</sup>. Obesity and gastroesophageal reflux are well-established risk factors of adenocarcinoma. According to the WCRF/AICR report, per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI was associated with a 48% increased risk of developing oesophageal adenocarcinoma<sup>79</sup>. A marked increase of incidence has been observed, potentially due to more reflux and obesity<sup>104</sup>. In contrast, studies

have shown no or negative association between obesity and risk of squamous cell carcinoma, which could be partly explained by residual confounding from smoking.

#### Metabolic risk factors and cancer risk

Several metabolic risk factors have been shown to be associated with certain cancers. High blood pressure was observed to be related to risk of renal cell carcinoma, colorectal cancer, and breast cancer in meta-analyses<sup>105-107</sup>. Studies assessing the association between high blood pressure and most cancers are inconsistent<sup>108,109</sup>. Mendelian randomisation studies only observed a causal association for renal cell carcinoma<sup>110,111</sup>. Diabetes has been associated with an increased risk of cancer<sup>112,113</sup>. A meta-analysis based on 32 million individuals quantified the robustness of the observational associations to unmeasured confounding and suggested a causal association between type II diabetes and an increased risk of liver, pancreatic, and endometrial cancer<sup>114</sup>. Some studies showed a differential association by sex, which might be explained by different proportions of specific cancers in the populations<sup>115,116</sup>. As the obligatory precursor of steroid hormones that are involved in tumour promotion as well as tumour death, cholesterol has been suggested to be associated with cancer risk<sup>117</sup>. Several epidemiologic studies suggested associations between risk of several cancers and blood cholesterol level<sup>118</sup>. However, results of epidemiologic studies are contradictory and were not supported by meta-analyses and Mendelian randomisation studies<sup>119-123</sup>. Studies on triglyceride levels and the risk of cancer are few, and findings are inconsistent. A pooled cohort study observed an increased risk of cancers of the colon, respiratory tract, kidney, melanoma, thyroid, and cervix for the top quintile versus the bottom quintile of triglycerides<sup>124</sup>.

Apart from metabolic factors individually, metabolic syndrome comprising of several metabolic factors has been shown to be associated with an increased risk of obesity-related cancers, such as pancreatic, breast (postmenopausal), liver, colorectal, endometrial, and renal cell cancer<sup>125-128</sup>. Since obesity is often accompanied by metabolic aberrations, data on the additional contribution of metabolic aberrations beyond the effect of obesity on obesity-related cancers is lacking. Obesity with metabolic aberration is known as metabolically unhealthy obesity. Metabolically unhealthy obesity has been extensively investigated in the cardiovascular field, but studies regarding cancer are limited. Some individuals with obesity have few or no elevated metabolic risk factors. These individuals with socalled metabolically healthy overweight/obesity have normal glucose tolerance, lipid levels and BP as well as less ectopic fat than the more typical individuals with metabolically unhealthy overweight/obesity<sup>129,130</sup>. Whether they are protected from obesity-related cancers is unknown. A meta-analysis published in 2020 investigated the relationship between metabolically healthy obesity and cancer risk based on only seven studies of different cancer forms<sup>131</sup>. However, the very existence of metabolically healthy obesity has been questioned, as it has been suggested to

commonly be a transitional state to metabolically unhealthy obesity<sup>130</sup>. Moreover, the potential interaction between body size and metabolic health status on cancer risk remains unclear.

### PA and cancer risk

PA is reported to decrease the risk of cancer, but the association with risk of most individual cancers remains inconclusive<sup>74</sup>. The WCRF/AICR report compiled over 500 observational epidemiologic studies and evaluated the association between PA and cancer incidence. There is strong evidence that being physically active is associated with lower risk of cancers of the colon, breast (postmenopausal), and endometrium. Studies have also shown potential associations with kidney and liver cancer<sup>74,132-135</sup>, which are both obesity-related cancers. The evidence for associations between PA and other cancers remains insufficient. The dose-response relationship between PA level and cancer risk remains inconclusive due to inconsistencies in the methods used to measure and categorise levels of PA in epidemiological studies.

Apart from PA helping to maintain a healthy body weight, which is a critical factor in cancer prevention, the biological mechanisms underlying this protective effect include improved immune function, modulation of inflammation, and enhanced insulin sensitivity<sup>136</sup>. PA and weight regulation are determinants of energy balance. Physical inactivity could contribute to energy imbalance, which may be linked to cancer through oxidative stress, DNA repair, and telomere length<sup>137</sup>. Maintaining an optimal level of energy balance can help reduce systemic and adipose tissue inflammation and angiogenesis, alter endogenous hormone metabolism, and improve insulin sensitivity, which are strongly hypothesised to be biological mechanisms in the development of cancer<sup>138</sup>. These potential mechanisms indicate the potential for interaction of PA and obesity, i.e. a risk or relative risk increase or reduction that only occurs in the existence of both factors.

# Aims

## Overall aim

The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate the association between BMI and WC and cancer risk, and the associations between BMI and its combination and interaction with metabolic factors and physical activity on risk of obesity-related cancers.

## Specific aims

Paper I: To identify further potential obesity-related cancers and cancer subtypes and to quantify the association between BMI and all potential obesity-related cancers relative to that of all established ones.

Paper II: To contrast the associations between WC and the risk of obesity-related cancers overall and for specific sites, with those of BMI, and to determine whether WC provides additional risk information beyond that already included in BMI.

Paper III: To investigate the association of metabolically unhealthy and healthy normal weight, overweight, and obesity with the risk of obesity-related cancer overall and for specific sites; to investigate multiplicative or additive interactions between BMI and metabolic health status on obesity-related cancer risk.

Paper IV: To investigate the association of leisure-time PA and its combined association and multiplicative and additive interaction with BMI, in relation to the risk of obesity-related cancers overall and for specific sites.

# Methods

## Study populations

Several pooled cohorts were used for the studies. In Papers I and II, we used the Obesity and Disease Development Sweden (ODDS) study. In Paper III, we used the Metabolic Syndrome and Cancer (Me-Can) 2.0 study. In Paper IV, we pooled three Norwegian cohorts (Oslo Study 1, Norwegian Counties Study [NCS] and the Age 40-Programme [40-y]) and two Swedish cohorts (Västerbotten Intervention Project [VIP] and Malmö Diet and Cancer Study [MDCS]).

#### The Obesity and Disease Development Sweden (ODDS) study

The ODDS study was initiated for the purpose of forming a large, pooled cohort in Sweden to investigate the association of anthropometric measures with the risk of morbidity and mortality<sup>139</sup>. ODDS is a pooling of large Swedish cohorts and national registers with individual-level information on height, weight, and WC, once or more between 1963 and 2020. The ODDS study includes 4,295,859 individuals with 7,733,901 weight assessments, with a minimum age of 17 years. The Swedish Military Conscription Register (1,771,429 men with 1,779,681 weight assessments) and the Medical Birth Register (1,855,606 women with 3,208,127 weight assessments), which are both nationwide, are the two largest cohorts comprising the majority (85%) of the study population. The coverage in the Military Conscription Register of the Swedish male birth cohorts of 1951-1988 (corresponding to conscription 1969-2006) is 90%. The completeness of the weight assessment was at least 95% until 2000. The Medical Birth Register records approximately 98% of all births in Sweden. The remaining other cohorts in ODDS are either local (e.g., Malmö cohorts), regional (e.g., Northern Sweden Health and Disease Study [NSHDS]), or national (e.g., Construction Workers Cohort [CWC], and Swedish Twin Registry), commonly used in epidemiological research (972,974 individuals with 2,225,946 weight assessments).

### The Metabolic Syndrome and Cancer (Me-Can) project

The Me-Can was initiated for the purpose of creating a large, pooled cohort to the association investigate between metabolic syndrome factors and cancer risk<sup>140</sup>. Me-Can 2.0 is a follow-up project from Me-Can 1.0, combining data from six cohorts from population-based three countries: Sweden (Västerbotten Intervention Project [VIP] and Malmö Preventive Project [MPP]), Norway (Oslo Study I, Norwegian Counties Study [NCS] and the Age 40-Programme [40-y]), and Austria (Vorarlberg Health Monitoring and Prevention Programme [VHM&PP]). All cohorts include information obtained from one or more health examinations conducted between 1972 and 2014, and information on smoking habits from questionnaires. Me-Can 2.0 includes 843,531 individuals (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Map with location of subcohorts included in Me-Can. Copyright © Stocks et al, 2009

#### The Oslo Study 1

The Oslo Study I was initiated with the aim of preventing and investigating the epidemiology of cardiovascular diseases<sup>141</sup>. Baseline information about nearly 18,000 men living in Oslo was collected during 1972-1973, most of whom were aged 40-49 years, and a few were aged 20-39 years. Attendance rate was around 60%. The follow-up examination was conducted in 2000.

#### The Norwegian Counties Study (NCS)

The NCS was established in order to screen for cardiovascular disease in the Norwegian counties<sup>142</sup>. In Finnmark, Sogn og Fjordane and Oppland, all residents aged 35-49 years, and a random sample aged 20-34 were invited to participate the screening in three time periods: 1974-1978, 1977-1983 and 1985-1988. The NCS includes around 93,000 individuals. Attendance rate in these counties was 78-90%.

#### The Age 40-Programme

The Age 40-Programme was performed between 1985 and 1999, and covered all counties in Norway by 1993<sup>143</sup>. All residents aged 40-42 were invited to a health examination with the aim of performing epidemiological research and monitoring risk factors of cardiovascular diseases. The examinations during the period 1994-
1999 were used as the baseline in Me-Can studies. Approximately 140,000 individuals were included, with an attendance rate of 62% during this period.

## The Västerbotten Intervention Project (VIP)

The VIP is an ongoing study that started in 1985, aiming at preventing diabetes and cardiovascular disease in the north of Sweden<sup>144</sup>. All residents in Västerbotten county were invited to undergo a health examination and donate a blood sample at ages 40, 50 and 60 years (and 30 years until 1996). Approximately 124,200 individuals had participated by 2020, with an attendance rate of 48-67%<sup>145</sup>.

#### The Malmö Preventive Project (MPP)

The MPP is a screening programme conducted in Malmö located in the south of Sweden aiming at preventive intervention on cardiovascular disease, alcohol abuse, and breast cancer during the period 1974-1992<sup>146</sup>. All middle-aged residents (aged 32-51 years) born between 1921 and 1949 were invited to attend a comprehensive risk factor screening. A total of 33,346 individuals finished the baseline screening. Attendance rate over the years was 71%.

## The Vorarlberg Health Monitoring and Prevention Programme (VHM&PP)

The VHM&PP is a risk factor surveillance programme running since 1985 for the purpose of preventing chronic diseases and health promotion<sup>147</sup>. All adult residents in Vorarlberg, the westernmost province of Austria, were invited to perform a health examination. Data from 1985-2003 involving approximately 176,000 participants are included in Me-Can, with an attendance rate of 66% on average over the years.

# The Malmö Diet and Cancer Study (MDCS)

The MDCS was initiated on 1 January, 1991, primarily aiming to investigate the association of diet with the development of certain cancers<sup>148</sup>. All residents in Malmö born between 1926 and 1945 were invited in the form of both passive and active recruitment. In total, 30,446 individuals were eligible to participate. Attendance rate over the baseline years was 40.8%<sup>149</sup>.

# Assessment of exposures

## **Body mass index**

In Papers I and II, weight and height were either objectively measured or selfreported through a questionnaire. In Papers III and IV, weight and height were measured for participants wearing light indoor clothes and no shoes. Recalled weights were excluded. BMI was calculated by dividing weight in kilograms by the square of height in metres (kg/m<sup>2</sup>). In Paper I, BMI was analysed per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and in categories (underweight [< 18.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>], normal weight [18.5-24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>], overweight [25-29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>], and obesity [ $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>]). In Paper II, per standard deviation (SD) higher BMI and sex-specific BMI quintiles were used in the analysis. In Paper III, individuals with underweight (< 18.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) were excluded. BMI was analysed using three categories: normal weight (< 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), overweight (25-29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). In Paper IV, BMI was categorised into two groups (low BMI [25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>] and high BMI [ $\geq$  25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>]).

## Waist circumference

In ODDS, WC was either measured on-site at a test centre by a trained nurse or selfreported via a questionnaire. Questionnaires in some cohorts included a picture or text instructions on how to measure WC, and some also included a tape measure. WC was commonly measured midway between the lower rib margin and the iliac crest or around the umbilical level. The standardised WC within sex strata and WC sex-specific quintiles were used in the analyses.

#### Blood pressure, glucose, and triglycerides

In Me-Can 2.0, BP, glucose, and triglycerides were measured on-site, but the methods of assessment differed between cohorts. BP in the Norwegian and Austrian cohorts was measured in a sitting position but was measured in a supine position in the Swedish cohorts. Mercury sphygmomanometers were used in all cohorts except for the Age 40 programme, where automatic devices were used. Glucose and triglycerides were measured in a non-fasting state in the Norwegian cohorts. In the MPP, VHM&PP, and VIP, fasting was requested since the beginning, 1988, and 1992, respectively. Glucose was measured in serum in the Norwegian cohorts, in plasma in the VHM&PP and the VIP, and in whole blood in the MPP. Triglycerides were measured in serum in all cohorts. In the analysis, a metabolic score was calculated as the sum of Z-transformed levels of mid-blood pressure [(systolic blood pressure + diastolic blood pressure)/2], glucose, and triglycerides<sup>126</sup>. Mid-blood pressure was used as it has been shown to best predict cardiovascular mortality among blood pressure indices<sup>150,151</sup>. Glucose and triglycerides were log-transformed prior to Z-transformation due to their skewed distributions. Z-transformation was performed by (level - mean)/SD within strata of cohort and sex, and within fasting time (< 4h, 4-< 8h, and  $\geq$  8h) for glucose and triglycerides. The top tertile of the metabolic score was defined as metabolically unhealthy.

# Leisure-time physical activity

In Paper IV, leisure-time PA was assessed with closed-ended question/-s in written questionnaire form in all cohorts. In the Norwegian cohorts, the usual level of leisure-time PA during the year preceding the survey was indicated by selecting one of the four given categories. In VIP, participants were asked to indicate their frequency of exercise aimed at increasing their fitness level or well-being during the last three months by selecting one of five given categories. In MDCS, the indicator of PA level is a score calculated as the sum of the number of minutes per week on 17 leisure-time PA types separately for the four seasons multiplied by the metabolic equivalent of task (MET) value assigned to each activity. The original categories used in each cohort and the categories used in Paper III are shown in Table 1. Due to the different assessments of PA levels between cohorts, in the pooled cohort we used a similar percentile cut point for all cohorts to categorise PA levels as low or high.

Cohort	Norwegian cohorts	VIP	MDCS
Cohort-specific definition	During the year preceding the survey, the usual level of PA in leisure time	The frequency of exercising in changed outfit with the purpose to increase fitness level or wellbeing during the last three months	MET units were multiplied by the sum of the number of minutes per week on 17 leisure- time PA types for the four seasons
Low PA (reference) (Sedentary to light	<ol> <li>Reading, watching TV or any other sedentary activity</li> <li>Walking, cycling, or other</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Never</li> <li>Once in a while</li> </ol>	< 2,692 MET-min/week (below 80 <sup>th</sup> percentile of continuous PA variable)
exercise)	activity, for at least four hours a week	3) 1-2 times/week	
<b>High PA</b> (Moderate to hard exercise)	3) Light sports, heavy gardening (at least four hours per week)	4) 2-3 times/week	≥ 2,692 MET-min/week (above 80 <sup>th</sup> percentile of continuous PA variable)
	4) Regular, hard exercise, or participating in competitive sports several times a week	5) >3 times/week	

Table 1. Cohort-specific definitions and levels for leisu	ure-time physical activity categorisation
---	---

Abbreviations: PA, physical activity; VIP, Västerbotten Intervention Programme; MDCS, Malmö Diet and Cancer Study; MET, Metabolic equivalent of task.

# Assessment of covariates

In Papers I and II, only year and quarter of a year of the birth date were retrieved from the Total Population Register<sup>152</sup> due to Swedish legislation protecting individual integrity. The month and day were imputed using day 15 and the middle month of the quarter, e.g. February for the first quarter. Sex, country of birth, and marital status were also retrieved from the Total Population Register. We retrieved

information on education level, total income per year, and main source of income from the Longitudinal integrated database for health insurance and labour market studies (LISA)<sup>153</sup> and from the Population and housing censuses (for early years, 1960-70). Smoking habits were self-reported and obtained from some of the included cohorts. In total, 828,763 individuals have at least one weight assessment with never/former/current smoking information available, and the proportion is larger for individuals with WC assessments (330,775 individuals). In Papers III and IV, demographic and socioeconomic status, including sex, date of birth, and smoking status and smoking dosage (among current smokers) were obtained from the self-administered questionnaire. In the analysis, smoking status and smoking dosage were integrated into one variable.

# Follow-up and outcome assessment

Cancer diagnoses were identified through linkage with the respective national cancer register in Norway<sup>154</sup>, Sweden<sup>155</sup>, and Austria<sup>156</sup>. Death was retrieved from each national cause of death register<sup>157-159</sup>. Emigration was captured from the population registers in Norway and Sweden.

In Papers I and II, the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) codes, WHO/HS/CANC/24.1 (Swedish PAD codes), and ICD-O/2 and -O/3 codes (Swedish SNOMED codes) were used to classify cancers. Follow-up for linkages ended on 31 December 2019. In Paper I, first-incident primary cancers with at least 100 cases diagnosed during follow-up were included as outcomes. Finally, 122 cancers categorised according to topography and morphology were investigated. In Paper II, first-incident primary obesity-related cancers with at least 100 cases were investigated. Established obesity-related cancers were defined as those concluded with sufficient evidence of being obesity-related by the IARC group<sup>77</sup>, including cancers of the oesophagus (adenocarcinoma), stomach (cardia), colon, rectum/anus, liver/intrahepatic bile ducts, gallbladder/biliary tract, pancreas, breast (postmenopausal), endometrium, ovary, renal cell, and multiple myeloma. Potential obesity-related cancers were defined as cancers associated with BMI in Paper I, including cancers of the oral cavity, nasal and paranasal sinuses, stomach (gastrointestinal stromal tumours), small intestine, biliary tract, pancreatic islets, adrenal glands, parathyroid gland, pituitary gland, connective tissue, lymphoid neoplasms, and myeloid neoplasms for both men and women, and also included cancers of the head and neck (adenocarcinoma), penis, and malignant melanoma for men, and cancers of the head and neck (squamous-cell carcinoma), nodular melanoma, vulva, and cervix (adenocarcinoma) for women.

In Papers III and IV, obesity-related cancers were defined as those concluded with strong or highly suggestive evidence of being related to obesity in an umbrella

review by Kyrgiou et al in 2017<sup>160</sup>, including cancers of the oesophagus (adenocarcinoma), stomach (cardia), colon, rectum/anus, liver/intrahepatic bile ducts, gallbladder/biliary tract, pancreas, breast (postmenopausal), endometrium, ovary, renal cell, and multiple myeloma. Each cancer was analysed separately if the number of cases was more than 400. Cancers with fewer than 400 cases each were grouped as "other" obesity-related cancers. Follow-up for linkages ended on 31 December 2012, in Norway, on 31 December 2014, in Austria, on 31 December 2014, for the VIP and MPP, and on 31 December 2019, for the MDCS.

# Selection

#### Missing data on main exposures

All observations with missing information on the main exposures were excluded. In Papers I-IV, missing data on BMI were excluded. Observations with missing WC in Paper II, missing blood pressure, glucose (except from the NCS and 40-y cohorts), triglycerides or fasting status in Paper III, and missing PA in Paper IV were also excluded. In Paper I, observations with recalled weight were excluded, due to the lower accuracy of retrospective recall of body weight.

## **Extreme values**

An extreme value, also known as outlier, could be truly extreme due to natural variability, or erroneous due to measurement or recording error. They may not be representative of the population being studied. The presence of extreme values might skew the result, hamper model performance, or lead to conclusions that are not relevant to the general population. Removing extreme values can help improve the overall accuracy and robustness of the model. Therefore, in Papers I-IV, extreme values of weight (<35 or >250 kg), height (<100 or >250 cm), or BMI (<15 or >60 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) were excluded. In Paper II, extreme values on WC (<40 or >160 cm) were also excluded. The proportion of extreme values was low for all variables (<1%).

## **Prevalent cancers**

We excluded observations with a cancer diagnosis before the weight assessment. In Papers I and II, all primary malignant cancers, and a limited number of potentially harmful cancers of borderline or malignant potential or benign (e.g. of the ovaries, central nervous system, endocrine and haematological malignancies) and in situ urothelial cancers, were included, in accordance with the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare. In Papers I-IV, we selected the first observation as baseline examination. In Paper I, the first observation with information on smoking status (if available) was selected as baseline examination.

# Statistical analysis

## Cox proportional hazards regression

We used Cox regression models to estimate hazard ratios (HRs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) with attained age as the underlying time metric and counting person-years at risk from baseline until the diagnosis of a cancer, censoring at date of another cancer, death, emigration, or until the end of follow-up, whichever came first. The overview of adjustments and strata variables for each study are shown in Table 2. The calendar year of birth was stratified in Papers I-III to account for the variation across the study population and the change in cancer incidence between calendar years.

In Paper II, in addition to investigating the association between WC and cancer risk, the additional contribution of WC as a cancer risk factor beyond BMI was investigated using the WC residual calculated from WC regressed on BMI. The WC residuals alongside BMI were included in the Cox model. Tertiles of BMI and WC within each BMI tertile of the population were also created to calculate HRs of BMI and WC tertiles within BMI tertiles. If the HRs for WC tertiles within BMI population tertiles are larger than that of BMI tertiles within BMI population tertiles, this suggests that WC provides additional risk information beyond BMI.

The proportional hazards (PH) assumption of the Cox models for the primary exposures and covariates was tested using Schoenfield residuals statistics combined with log-log survival curves. When a covariate violated the PH assumption, it was added as a stratum in the model, but it did not materially change the effect estimates in all cases, so in the end it was not retained as stratum in the models. In Paper I, BMI appeared to violate the PH assumption for some cancers. Flexible parametric survival models were used to investigate the association between per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI and cancer risk as a function of attained age for these cancers.

Paper	Exposure	Outcome	Adjustment	Strata
I	BMI	Cancers	Baseline age (continuous), weight assessment from the Medical Birth Register (yes/no), mode of weight and height assessment (measured/self- reported), marital status, education level, and birth country	Sex, calendar year of birth (<1950, 1950-59, 1960-69, 1970- 79, ≥1980)
II	WC	Obesity-related cancers	Baseline age (continuous), mode of WC assessment (measured/self- reported), height (continuous), smoking in three categories (never smoker, ex-smoker, current smoker), cohort, marital status, education level, birth country, income level, and main source of income	Sex, calendar year of birth (<1940, 1940-49, 1950-59, 1960- 69, ≥1970)
III	Metabolic health status & BMI	Obesity-related cancers	Sex, baseline age (continuous), smoking in six categories (never smoker, ex-smoker, current smoker with <20 pack-years, current smoker with ≥20 pack-years, current smoker with pack-years missing, and smoking status missing)	Cohort, calendar year of birth (<1931, 1931-38, 1939-46, 1947- 54, ≥1955).
IV	PA & BMI	Obesity-related cancers	Sex, baseline age (continuous), cohort, calendar year of birth (<1931, 1931-38, 1939-46, 1947-54, ≥1955), smoking in seven categories (never smoker, ex-smoker, current smoker by tertile of pack-years, smokers with pack-years missing, and smoking status missing)	-

Table 2. Overview of adjustment and strata for studies in this thesis.

## **Restricted cubic spline**

Restricted cubic spline analysis with Cox model was used to visualise the shape of the association with cancer risk across the BMI range or WC range in Papers I and II. The same adjustments and strata were fitted as described in Table 2. Restricted cubic splines with knots placed at Harrell's recommended percentiles were fitted<sup>161</sup>. In Paper I, the reference BMI for these plots (with HR fixed as 1.0) was 22.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. For each cancer, models with three, four, five, six, and seven knots were fitted, and the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) was calculated; the number of knots resulting in the minimum AIC were then chosen. In Paper II, the reference WC for these plots (with HR fixed to 1.0) was 0 and models with four knots were fitted. Non-linearity was assessed by testing the null hypothesis of equal spline coefficients using the post-estimation Wald test.

## **Cumulative incidence estimation**

Cumulative incidence in epidemiology refers to the proportion of a specific population experiencing an event or developing a disease over a period of time. It measures the absolute risk of disease and is, therefore, a good complement to HR, which measures relative risk. In Papers I, III, and IV, we calculated sex-specific cumulative incidence across age using competing risk analysis<sup>162,163</sup>. Age was used as the time metric and death as the competing event. This model was also used to calculate the absolute risks and CIs at age 80 years.

## **Interaction analysis**

Interaction refers to a scenario where the combined effect of two exposures on a health outcome differs from what would be expected based on their individual effects, indicating that the exposures act together in a dependent manner. There are two scales for assessing interaction, multiplicative and additive. Interaction on a multiplicative scale means that the combined relative risk is larger (or smaller) than the product of the individual effects, which can be calculated using risk ratio. Interaction on an additive scale means that the combined absolute risk of two exposures is larger (or smaller) than the sum of the individual effects of the two exposures, which can be calculated using risk difference. Additive interaction is often the more relevant public health measure, as assessing additive interaction can help identify the subgroups in which the intervention or treatment is likely to have the largest effect, i.e., would be the most beneficial. The choice of a measure of interaction depends on the goal or the motivation for the analysis. VanderWeele also recommends that, in general, either the presence or absence of additive or multiplicative interaction may be of interest, so it is suggested to evaluate both of them<sup>164</sup>.

In all papers, multiplicative interaction was tested by the Wald test of the respective product term in the Cox model. *P* values for interactions were reported. In Papers III and IV, additive interactions between PA and BMI and metabolic health status and BMI in relation to obesity-related cancer risk were assessed using relative excess risk due to interaction (RERI). The RERI was based on adjusted HRs representing relative risks (RRs) in the formula: RR11 - RR10 - RR01 + 1, denoting individuals in the low BMI-high PA/obesity-metabolic unhealthy group (RR11), low BMI-low PA/obesity-metabolic healthy group (RR10), high BMI-high PA/normal weight-metabolic unhealthy group (1, reference group). CIs were calculated using the delta method<sup>165</sup>.

# **Regression dilution ratio**

HRs might be diluted by intra-personal variability due to physiological changes and random measurement error, which is referred to as "regression dilution bias" due to the propensity of values that are extreme on a single measure to be less extreme upon a repetition<sup>166</sup>. For BMI, the regression dilution ratio (RDR) is usually small due to the small random measurement error. The RDR of WC is relatively large because of the complexity of measuring WC and larger variability in WC itself due to the effects of food, faeces, and flatus<sup>167</sup>. In Paper II, for the analysis that compares HRs of cancer risks between BMI and WC, we corrected the HRs by using the method based on RDRs as described by Wood *et al.*, based on all available repeated measurements<sup>168</sup>. RDRs for WC and BMI were calculated for men and women separately and combined using the user-written function "rdrcalc" (see https://www.phpc.cam.ac.uk/ceu/erfc/programmes/). The HRs were corrected with the equation HR<sub>correct</sub> = exp (log [HR<sub>original</sub>]/RDR).

## Strategies for managing missing data

#### Missing indicator method

The missing indicator method, which treat missing values in covariates as an additional category (or value) in the analytical model, has been proposed for etiologic studies<sup>169</sup>. For covariates including education level, birth country, and marital status in Paper I, education level, income level, and main source of income in Paper II, and smoking status in Papers II-IV, the missing indicator method was applied.

#### Multiple imputation

Multiple imputation (MI) is a statistical technique to use the distribution of the observed data to estimate a set of plausible values for the missing data<sup>170,171</sup>. Multiple datasets are created and then analysed individually but identically to obtain a set of parameter estimates. These estimates are then combined to obtain the overall estimates, variances, and CIs through Rubin's Rules. MI is usually implemented under missing at random mechanisms (MAR – the probability of data being missing does not depend on unobserved data, conditional on the observed data).

In Paper III, around 300,000 women had no information on glucose levels, and nearly 90% of these were from the 40-y cohort and the remaining 10% were from the NCS cohort. The reason for missingness in these Norwegian cohorts was that glucose was not measured during certain years, i.e. MAR was assumed. Glucose is one of three components of the metabolic score and the information on the other two components is virtually complete. Excluding all women with missing glucose levels may introduce selection bias. Therefore, we performed the MI imputation approach to impute glucose level of individuals in the 40-y and the NCS cohorts.

We used multivariate normal regression with ten imputations to obtain imputed glucose levels in the 40-y and the NCS cohorts. Besides covariates used in the Cox model (see Table 2), obesity-related cancer diagnosis<sup>171</sup>, fasting status, and diabetes were also included as predictors in the model.

All statistical analysis was conducted on Stata 16, 17, and 18 (StataCorp LLC, College Station, TX, USA).

# Ethical considerations

This thesis is based on already established cohorts and registry data, with all protocols approved by the relevant Ethical Review Authority. Since studies of this thesis are based on information on individuals, some of which is sensitive (e.g. health data and country of birth), secure handling of data is crucial. Participants may fear potential reidentification, particularly in studies involving rare diseases, and may experience anxiety about the exposure of their health information. This concern is reasonable, as cohort individuals can be linked to national registers through the unique personal identity number of inhabitants of the corresponding countries of the cohorts. However, Me-Can data were anonymised after linkage to the registers, i.e. no link to personal identity numbers was available to researchers, making reidentification of individuals difficult. Data in the MDCS and ODDS were pseudonymised, with the key to personal identity numbers available only to the central database manager of the MDCS, and to Statistics Sweden, respectively. In ODDS, information only on the birth year and quarter of the year further hampers the possibility to reidentify individuals.

Written informed consent was only collected at initiation of some of the included cohorts, such as the MDCS. Other cohorts, including the large Military Conscription Register and the Medical Birth Register, lack informed consent as they were not formed for the purpose of research. Some of the cohorts, such as the Construction Workers Cohort, have regularly published notices in relevant media to participants of the cohort, informing them that they have the right to withdraw from the cohort at any time.

The potential scientific knowledge gained by studies of this thesis has been assessed by the researchers and review authorities to outweigh ethical concerns such as missing informed consent and the small integrity risks for the individual. Studies using the Me-Can cohort (Papers III and IV) were approved by ethics committees in Norway (Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, no 2012/2271/REC South-East), Sweden (EPN Umeå, no 2012-354-31M and no 2015-7-32M), and Austria (Ethics Committee of the Province of Vorarlberg, no 2006-6/2). Paper IV, which also included the MDCS, was approved by the ethics committee in Lund (EPN Lund, no 2014/830). The ODDS study (Papers I and II) was approved by the Swedish Ethical Review Authority (no: 2020-03846).

# Results

# Paper I

#### Body mass index and risk of cancers

A total of 4,142,349 individuals, 2,013,200 women and 2,129,149 men, with a mean baseline age of 31 (SD = 9.7) and 23 (SD = 11.8) years, were involved in the study. Women had a mean BMI of 24.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (SD = 4.2), with a prevalence of obesity of 9% (n = 176,650); the corresponding values for men were 22.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (SD = 3.3) and 3% (n = 69,385). After a median follow-up of 24 years (IQR = 13.8-34.7), 332,501 cancer cases, 139,685 in women and 192,816 in men, had been recorded.

A decision algorithm, including the presence of a sex-interaction and/or cancer heterogeneity, was used to define a cancer as potentially obesity related (Figure 6). Associations with an increased risk for either obesity (BMI  $\geq$ 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) vs. normal weight (BMI 18.5-24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) or per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI at a two-sided  $\alpha$ -level of 0.05 were considered a "potential obesity-related cancer".

HRs of potential obesity-related cancers for obesity vs. normal weight and per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI are shown in Table 3. These were cancers of the oral cavity, nasal and paranasal sinuses, stomach (gastrointestinal stromal tumours), small intestine, biliary tract, pancreatic islets, adrenal glands, parathyroid gland, pituitary gland, connective tissue, lymphoid neoplasms, and myeloid neoplasms for both men and women, and also included cancers of the head and neck (adenocarcinoma), penis, and malignant melanoma for men, and cancers of the head and neck (squamous-cell carcinoma), nodular melanoma, vulva, and cervix (adenocarcinoma) for women. Sex interactions were observed for cancers of the lip, tongue, head and neck (adenocarcinoma and squamous-cell carcinoma), connective tissue, malignant melanoma, and lymphoid neoplasms. Among potential obesity-related cancers with at least 250 cases, non-linear associations with BMI were found for cancers of the biliary tract, vulva, pituitary gland, and malignant melanoma.



were excluded. Potential obesity-related cancers are listed for men and women separately on the right side, with cancers included for both men and women risk in obesity vs. normal weight or per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher body mass index was used to indicate a cancer as obesity related. In a final step amongst cancers in Figure 6. Flow-chart for decision making of inclusion of a cancer as potentially obesity related. A two-sided a-level of 0.05 for an increased cancer grey-shaded circles, any remaining cancer subtypes overlapping with an established obesity-related cancer, e.g. gastric-cardia and gallbladder cancer, in italics.

associated with body filess fitted in this study ( <i>III tailes</i> ); according to body filess fitted and sex		uy (iii italics), ac			YAG		
		All		2	Men	MO	women
Cancer category	No. at risk /cases	Obesity vs. normal weight <sup>1</sup>	Per 5 kg/m <sup>2</sup> higher BMI <sup>1</sup>	Obesity vs. normal weight <sup>1</sup>	Per 5 kg/m <sup>2</sup> higher BMI <sup>1</sup>	Obesity vs. normal weight <sup>1</sup>	Per 5 kg/m <sup>2</sup> higher BMI <sup>1</sup>
Head and neck							
Oral cavity <sup>4</sup>	4,142,349/2,688	1.11 (0.94-1.32)	1.06 (1.00-1.12)	1.06 (0.85-1.33)	1.03 (0.96-1.11)	1.20 (0.92-1.57)	1.11 (1.01-1.21)
Lip	4,142,349/760	1.17 (0.87-1.57)	1.13 (1.01-1.25) <sup>5</sup>	1.22 (0.88-1.71)	1.17 (1.03-1.32)	$NA^3$	1.06 (0.86-1.31)
Tongue	4,142,349/925	1.45 (1.09-1.91) <sup>5</sup>	1.14 (1.04-1.26)	1.29 (0.86-1.92)	1.09 (0.96-1.25)	1.66 (1.12-2.46)	1.19 (1.04-1.37)
Nasal and paranasal sinuses	4,142,349/431	1.55 (1.06-2.26)	1.16 (1.01-1.33)	1.75 (1.07-2.86)	1.19 (1.00-1.43)	$NA^3$	1.12 (0.90-1.39)
Adenocarcinoma	4,042,179/208	NA <sup>3</sup>	1.26 (1.04-1.52) <sup>5</sup>	NA <sup>3</sup>	1.53 (1.18-1.98)	NA <sup>3</sup>	NA <sup>3</sup>
Squamous-cell carcinoma	4,142,349/6,410	0.96 (0.85-1.08) <sup>5</sup>	0.96 (0.93-1.00) <sup>5</sup>	0.86 (0.74-1.01)	0.92 (0.88-0.96)	1.21 (0.99-1.49)	1.08 (1.01-1.16)
Gastric							
Gastrointestinal stromal	4,142,349/227	$NA^3$	1.29 (1.08-1.55)	$NA^3$	1.19 (0.90-1.59)	NA <sup>3</sup>	$NA^3$
Small intestine <sup>4</sup>	4,142,349/1,431	1.55 (1.25-1.93)	1.26 (1.17-1.35)	1.62 (1.20-2.19)	1.32 (1.19-1.45)	1.42 (1.03-1.95)	1.18 (1.05-1.32)
Duodenum	4,142,349/291	1.04 (0.60-1.83)	1.16 (0.98-1.38)	$NA^3$	1.31 (1.05-1.64)	$NA^3$	0.99 (0.76-1.30)
lleum	4,092,313/348	2.35 (1.59-3.47)	1.39 (1.21-1.60)	$NA^3$	1.37 (1.11-1.68)	$NA^3$	1.41 (1.17-1.71)
Neuroendocrine	4,142,349/778	2.04 (1.56-2.68)	1.39 (1.26-1.52)	1.94 (1.31-2.86)	1.38 (1.20-1.57)	2.05 (1.41-2.98)	1.38 (1.20-1.59)
Colon <sup>4</sup>							
Proximal	4,142,349/9,542	1.33 (1.23-1.45) <sup>5</sup>	1.15 (1.11-1.18) <sup>5</sup>	1.51 (1.35-1.69)	1.20 (1.15-1.25)	1.19 (1.06-1.33)	1.10 (1.06-1.15)
Distal	4,142,349/7,253	1.43 (1.30-1.57) <sup>5</sup>	1.16 (1.13-1.20) <sup>5</sup>	1.65 (1.46-1.87)	1.26 (1.20-1.31)	1.21 (1.05-1.39)	1.07 (1.01-1.12)
Adenocarcinoma	4,142,349/16,801	1.38 (1.30-1.46) <sup>5</sup>	1.16 (1.13-1.18) <sup>5</sup>	1.60 (1.47-1.74)	1.24 (1.20-1.27)	1.17 (1.07-1.28)	1.08 (1.05-1.12)
Neuroendocrine	4,142,349/774	1.53 (1.14-2.06)	1.15 (1.05-1.27)	1.04 (0.58-1.87)	1.07 (0.92-1.26)	1.80 (1.27-2.55)	1.21 (1.07-1.37)
Rectum/anus	4,142,349/11,644	1.19 (1.10-1.29) <sup>5</sup>	1.08 (1.06-1.12) <sup>5</sup>	1.26 (1.14-1.40)	1.11 (1.07-1.15)	1.10 (0.97-1.24)	1.05 (1.01-1.10)
Adenocarcinoma	4,142,349/10,519	1.20 (1.10-1.30)	1.09 (1.06-1.13)	1.28 (1.16-1.43)	1.11 (1.07-1.16)	1.07 (0.94-1.23)	1.07 (1.02-1.12)
Biliary tract <sup>2</sup>	4,142,349/2,002	1.48 (1.26-1.74)	1.24 (1.16-1.31)	1.28 (0.98-1.67)	1.19 (1.08-1.31)	1.61 (1.31-1.98)	1.26 (1.16-1.36)
Extrahepatic bile ducts	4,142,349/589	1.49 (1.07-2.08)	1.25 (1.11-1.41)	1.11 (0.69-1.80)	1.19 (1.02-1.39)	NA <sup>3</sup>	1.33 (1.12-1.59)
Malignant melanoma <sup>6</sup>	4,142,349/22,167	0.96 (0.89-1.02) <sup>5</sup>	1.05 (1.03-1.07) <sup>5</sup>	1.15 (1.04-1.28)	1.15 (1.11-1.18)	0.84 (0.77-0.92)	0.97 (0.95-1.00)
Acral lentiginous	4,042,179/310	1.04 (0.64-1.70)	1.08 (0.93-1.27)	$NA^3$	1.29 (1.01-1.67)	$NA^3$	0.97 (0.80-1.19)
Superficial spreading	4,042,179/12,855	0.91 (0.83-1.00) <sup>5</sup>	1.04 (1.02-1.07) <sup>5</sup>	1.09 (0.94-1.27)	1.15 (1.10-1.20)	0.83 (0.74-0.92)	0.97 (0.94-1.01)
Nodular	4,042,179/2,281	1.09 (0.89-1.33)	1.10 (1.04-1.17)	1.00 (0.75-1.35)	1.13 (1.03-1.23)	1.17 (0.90-1.53)	1.08 (0.99-1.18)
Vulva						2.43 (1.88-3.14)	1.42 (1.29-1.55)
Cervix							
Adenocarcinoma						1.34 (1.08-1.65)	1.10 (1.02-1.19)
Endometrium <sup>4</sup>							
Type I						3.35 (2.99-3.76)	1.68 (1.61-1.74)
Type II							1.54 (1.30-1.83) (Continued)

Table 3. Hazard ratios (95% confidence intervals) of potential obesity-related cancers, and subtypes of established obesity-related cancers associated with body mass index in this study (*in italics*), according to body mass index and sex<sup>1</sup>

		AII		2	Men	Mo	Women
Cancer category	No. at risk /cases	Obesity vs. normal weight <sup>1</sup>	Per 5 kg/m <sup>2</sup> higher BMI <sup>1</sup>	Obesity vs. normal weight <sup>1</sup>	Per 5 kg/m <sup>2</sup> higher BMI <sup>1</sup>	Obesity vs. normal weight <sup>1</sup>	Per 5 kg/m <sup>2</sup> higher BMI <sup>1</sup>
Penis		,		3.07 (2.28-4.14)	1.54 (1.38-1.73)		
Renal cell <sup>4</sup>							
Clear cell	3,837,868/2,962	2.39 (2.07-2.76)	1.53 (1.46-1.61)	2.39 (1.96-2.90)	1.54 (1.45-1.64)	2.38 (1.92-2.97)	1.52 (1.41-1.64)
Papillary	4,042,179/466	1.56 (1.02-2.40)	1.25 (1.09-1.43)	1.20 (0.66-2.17)	1.19 (1.00-1.41)	NA <sup>3</sup>	NA <sup>3</sup>
Chromophobe	3,837,868/282	2.06 (1.31-3.24)	1.31 (1.12-1.54)	NA <sup>3</sup>	1.40 (1.11-1.77)	$NA^3$	1.24 (1.00-1.54)
Endocrine organs	4,142,349/11,224	1.34 (1.24-1.45)	1.14 (1.11-1.17) <sup>5</sup>	1.52 (1.31-1.77)	1.21 (1.16-1.27)	1.28 (1.18-1.40)	1.11 (1.08-1.15)
Pancreatic islets	4,142,349/480	1.36 (0.90-2.05)	1.20 (1.06-1.37)	1.65 (0.90-3.00)	1.40 (1.18-1.66)	$NA^3$	1.03 (0.86-1.25)
Thyroid <sup>4</sup>							
Papillary	4,042,179/2,809	1.24 (1.07-1.43)	1.08 (1.03-1.14) <sup>5</sup>	2.16 (1.56-2.99)	1.21 (1.08-1.36)	1.12 (0.95-1.31)	1.06 (1.00-1.12)
Follicular	4,042,179/408	1.20 (0.81-1.78)	1.17 (1.03-1.32)	$NA^3$	1.30 (0.98-1.74)	1.25 (0.83-1.91)	1.15 (1.00-1.32)
Adrenal glands	4,142,349/479	1.50 (1.03-2.17)	1.18 (1.04-1.33)	$NA^3$	1.13 (0.92-1.40)	$NA^3$	1.19 (1.02-1.40)
Parathyroid gland	4,142,349/3,144	1.41 (1.23-1.62)	1.16 (1.11-1.22)	1.40 (1.02-1.93)	1.21 (1.09-1.33)	1.40 (1.20-1.63)	1.15 (1.09-1.21)
Pituitary gland	4,142,349/2,936	1.57 (1.35-1.83)	1.19 (1.13-1.25)	1.63 (1.27-2.09)	1.25 (1.16-1.35)	1.54 (1.27-1.86)	1.16 (1.08-1.24)
Connective tissue	4,142,349/2,029	1.34 (1.11-1.62)	1.20 (1.13-1.28) <sup>5</sup>	1.59 (1.23-2.04)	1.28 (1.17-1.38)	1.10 (0.82-1.47)	1.11 (1.01-1.23)
Lymphoid neoplasms <sup>4</sup>	4,142,349/16,018	1.22 (1.14-1.31)	1.11 (1.09-1.14) <sup>5</sup>	1.30 (1.19-1.43)	1.14 (1.11-1.18)	1.12 (1.01-1.25)	1.08 (1.04-1.12)
Hodgkin lymphoma <sup>4</sup>	4,142,349/2,239	1.38 (1.13-1.67)	1.18 (1.11-1.25)	1.52 (1.18-1.96)	1.20 (1.12-1.29)	1.23 (0.91-1.66)	1.15 (1.04-1.26)
Mixed cellularity	4,042,179/237	$NA^3$	1.30 (1.10-1.54)	$NA^3$	1.33 (1.08-1.63)	$NA^3$	$NA^3$
Nodular lymphocyte	4,042,179/166	$NA^3$	1.72 (1.45-2.03)	$NA^3$	1.53 (1.21-1.94)	$NA^3$	$NA^3$
Acute lymphocytic leukaemia	4,142,349/539	1.61 (1.13-2.29)	1.18 (1.05-1.33)	1.69 (1.04-2.75)	1.20 (1.03-1.40)	$NA^3$	1.17 (0.97-1.41)
Chronic lymphocytic							
leukaemia	4,142,349/2,854	1.05 (0.89-1.24)	1.06 (1.00-1.12)	1.13 (0.93-1.39)	1.08 (1.01-1.16)	0.90 (0.66-1.21)	1.01 (0.91-1.12)
Diffuse large B-cell	4,042,179/2,775	1.53 (1.31-1.79)	1.23 (1.17-1.30)	1.70 (1.37-2.10)	1.29 (1.20-1.39)	1.37 (1.08-1.72)	1.16 (1.07-1.26)
Follicular	4,042,179/1,931	1.15 (0.94-1.41)	1.09 (1.02-1.16)	1.42 (1.07-1.90)	1.14 (1.03-1.25)	0.98 (0.74-1.30)	1.04 (0.95-1.14)
Myeloid neoplasm <sup>4</sup>	4,142,349/4,784	1.41 (1.26-1.59)	1.15 (1.10-1.20)	1.44 (1.22-1.70)	1.16 (1.09-1.22)	1.39 (1.17-1.64)	1.14 (1.07-1.21)
Acute myeloid leukaemia	4,142,349/1,498	1.24 (1.00-1.54)	1.13 (1.05-1.22)	1.36 (1.02-1.81)	1.14 (1.03-1.27)	1.13 (0.83-1.56)	1.12 (1.01-1.25)
Chronic myeloid leukaemia	4,142,349/1,002	1.47 (1.13-1.92)	1.17 (1.07-1.28)	1.42 (0.97-2.08)	1.16 (1.03-1.31)	1.55 (1.06-2.27)	1.19 (1.04-1.36)
Abbreviations: NW, normal weight; BMI, body mass index	veight; BMI, body n	nass index.					

Hazard ratios from Cox regression models with age as time scale, adjusted for baseline age (continuous), weight assessment from the Medical Birth Register (yes/no), mode of weight assessment, mode of height assessment, marital status, education level, and birth country, and stratified by sex (in analysis of men and women combined) and calendar year of birth.

<sup>2</sup> Gallbladder cancer, which is established obesity-related, is a subtypes of biliary tract cancer and makes up around half of biliary tract cancer.

 $^3$  The number of cancer cases was considered too low for analysis (<250 cases for categorical body mass index and <100 cases for per 5 kg/m $^2$ ).

separately in men and women whenever a sex-interaction was identified. P=0.0039 for the groups of gastric-adenocarcinoma, gastric-neuroendocrine, and <sup>4</sup> The heterogeneity of hazard ratios per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI between cancer subtypes was calculated using the Lunn and McNeil duplication method,

gastrointestinal stromal; P=0.00030 for cervix-adenocarcinoma vs. cervix-squamous-cell carcinoma; P=0.0019 for the groups of renal cell-clear cell, renal cell-papillary, and renal cell-chromophobe; P<0.0001 for the groups of Hodgkin-nodular sclerosis, Hodgkin-mixed cellularity, and Hodgkin-nodular gastric-gastrointestinal stromal; P=0.0045 for the groups of small intestine-adenocarcinoma, small intestine-neuroendocrine, and small intestinelymphocyte; P<0.0001 for the groups of Hodgkin lymphoma, acute lymphocytic leukaemia, chronic lymphocytic leukaemia, diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, <sup>5</sup> P sevimenation<0.05, calculated by adding a product term of sex and BMI in categories or per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI in the Cox model using Wald test. follicular lymphoma, and T-cell/natural killer-cell lymphoma in men. No heterogeneity was found between other cancer subtypes.

<sup>6</sup> Hazard ratios for malignant melanoma and its subtypes were also calculated additionally adjusted for height (continuous) – a strong risk factor and commonly adjusted for in studies of BMI and malignant melanoma risk. The associations did not change, for example, HRs (95% Cl) per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI for malignant melanoma, melanoma-superficial spreading, and melanoma-nodular were 1.06 (1.04-1.08), 1.06 (1.03-1.08), and 1.11 (1.05-1.18), respectively. When combining all potential obesity-related cancers, the HR per 5 kg/m<sup>2</sup> higher BMI was 1.13 (95% CI 1.11-1.15) in women and 1.17 (95% CI 1.15-1.19) in men (Figure 7). In comparison, the association with all established obesity-related cancers was slightly stronger in men (HR 1.24, 95% CI 1.22-1.26), but of similar effect size in women (HR 1.12, 95% CI 1.11-1.13). The absolute risk of all potential and established obesity-related cancers combined by age 80 was 16.3% (16.1%-16.5%) for normal weight and 18.7% (18.1%-19.1%) for obesity in women. The corresponding risks were 12.0% (11.9%-12.2%) and 14.2% (13.8%-14.6%) in men.



Figure 7. Hazard ratios of established obesity-related cancers and potential obesity-related cancers according to BMI allowing for non-linear associations, with 95% confidence intervals. The reference BMI was 22.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Restricted cubic splines for BMI with knots placed at Harrell's recommended percentiles of BMI were fitted adjusting for baseline age (continuous), weight assessment from Medical Birth Register, mode of weight assessment, mode of height assessment, marital status, education level, and birth country, and stratified by calendar year of birth. Smoking-related cancers include cancers of the oral cavity, nasal and paranasal sinuses, head and neck (adenocarcinoma), and head and neck (squamous cell carcinoma), oesophagus (adenocarcinoma), stomach-cardia, liver/intrahepatic bile ducts, and pancreas. HR, hazard ratio; CI, confidence interval; BMI, body mass index.

# Paper II

## Waist circumference and risk of obesity-related cancers

A total of 339,190 individuals, 196,756 women and 142,434 men, with a mean baseline age of 50 (SD = 13.1) and 53 (SD = 12.4) years, were eligible for analysis. The mean WC in women was 82.3 cm and in men 95.5 cm. After a median follow-up of 14 years (IQR = 8.0-22.5), 18,185 established obesity-related cancers, 13,703 in women and 4,482 in men, and 6,893 potential obesity-related cancers, 3,091 in women and 3,802 in men, had been recorded.

The associations of WC and BMI quintiles, and per SD higher WC and BMI with risks of obesity-related cancers combined in men and women separately are shown in Table 4. The results of WC and BMI quintiles revealed an approximately linear increase in the risk of obesity-related cancers for both variables. When WC and BMI were analysed as continuous variables, a 1-SD increase in WC was associated with a 25% higher risk of developing established obesity-related cancers (HR 1.25, 95% CI 1.21-1.30) among men, which was stronger than for BMI, which had an HR of 1.19 (95% CI 1.15-1.23) per 1-SD increase, although the 95% CIs overlapped. Among women, the associations of WC and BMI were weaker and of comparable size (WC: HR 1.13, 95% CI 1.11-1.16; BMI: HR 1.13, 95% CI 1.11-1.15). A similar pattern but weaker association were found for all established and potential obesity-related cancers combined.

Residual analyses showed that WC residuals remained associated with the risk of obesity-related cancer in men (HR 1.09, 95% CI 1.06-1.12) in models adjusted for BMI, and this association was notably weaker in women (HR 1.03, 95% CI 1.02-1.05) (Figure 8). For specific sites, results were generally consistent with these findings. The risk of developing established obesity-related cancer increased gradually across WC tertiles within BMI tertiles, among both men and women (Figure 8). The risk for BMI subgroup-tertiles within BMI tertiles also increased gradually as expected, due to the inherent gradient within BMI categories. In men, the increase in risk was more pronounced for WC tertiles than for BMI tertiles; all point estimates for the eight HRs for WC tertile within BMI tertile combinations were higher than those for BMI subgroup-tertile within BMI tertile combinations, although the 95% CIs overlapped. Specifically, the HR for the highest WC tertile within highest BMI tertile was 1.91 (95% CI 1.66-2.20), whereas the HR for the highest BMI subgroup-tertile within the highest BMI group was 1.58 (95% CI 1.39-1.80). In women, HRs for WC tertiles within BMI tertiles were comparable to HRs for BMI subgroup-tertiles within BMI tertiles, even for the highest combination (WC-BMI: HR 1.43, 95% CI 1.33-1.55; BMI-BMI: HR 1.46, 95% CI 1.35-1.57).

When comparing the risks for per SD higher WC within BMI quintiles and per SD higher BMI within WC quintiles, associations were observed between continuous

WC and higher risks of established obesity-related cancers among men except for the second lowest quintile; however, continuous BMI and higher risk was only found within the highest quintile of WC (Figure 8). Among women, both per SD higher WC within BMI quintiles and per SD higher BMI within WC quintiles exhibited weak and similarly sized associations with cancer risk.

		All established obesity-related ca	incers	All established an obesity-related ca	
	Median (Range)	No. at risk/cases	HR (95% CI) <sup>1</sup>	No. at risk/cases	HR (95% CI) <sup>1</sup>
Men					
WC quintiles					
Q1	83.0 (40.0-86.5)	27,105/554	Reference	27,105/1,101	Reference
Q2	89.0 (86.7-91.5)	25,642/727	1.16 (1.04-1.30)	25,642/1,360	1.09 (1.04-1.14)
Q3	94.0 (91.6-97.0)	34,383/1,118	1.27 (1.14-1.40)	34,383/2,113	1.17 (1.11-1.22)
Q4	100.0 (97.1-103.2)	26,640/965	1.40 (1.26-1.56)	26,640/1,782	1.19 (1.13-1.25)
Q5	109.0 (103.3-160.0)	28,664/1,118	1.67 (1.51-1.86)	28,664/1,928	1.31 (1.25-1.38)
P for trend/χ2	2		<0.01/220.09		<0.01/281.83
WC continuo	us (per SD incr.) <sup>2</sup>	142,434/4,482	1.25 (1.21-1.30)	142,434/8,284	1.18 (1.16-1.22)
<b>BMI</b> quintiles					
Q1	22.1 (15.0-23.2)	28,588/766	Reference	28,588/1,479	Reference
Q2	24.2 (23.3-25.0)	28,391/840	1.05 (0.95-1.16)	28,391/1,576	1.11 (1.04-1.17)
Q3	25.8 (25.1-26.6)	28,516/890	1.11 (1.01-1.22)	28,516/1,696	1.18 (1.11-1.24)
Q4	27.7 (26.7-28.8)	28,453/1,000	1.29 (1.17-1.41)	28,453/1,844	1.23 (1.16-1.30)
Q5	30.9 (28.9-60.0)	28,486/986	1.48 (1.35-1.63)	28,486/1,689	1.35 (1.28-1.43)
P for trend/χ2	2		<0.01/226.37		<0.01/259.23
BMI continuo	us (per SD incr.) <sup>2</sup>	142,434/4,482	1.19 (1.15-1.23)	142,434/8,284	1.14 (1.12-1.18)
Women					
WC quintiles					
Q1	70.0 (40.0-73.0)	46,406/2,880	Reference	46,406/3,561	Reference
Q2	76.0 (73.1-78.0)	38,788/2,577	1.04 (0.99-1.10)	38,788/3,158	1.04 (0.99-1.09)
Q3	81.0 (78.1-83.0)	33,802/2,447	1.16 (1.06-1.18)	33,802/2,979	1.10 (1.05-1.16)
Q4	87.0 (83.1-91.0)	39,450/2,967	1.16 (1.10-1.22)	39,450/3,640	1.15 (1.10-1.21)
Q5	98.0 (91.1-160.0)	38,310/2,832	1.29 (1.22-1.36)	38,310/3,456	1.27 (1.21-1.34)
P for trend/χ2	2		<0.01/306.77		<0.01/345.67
WC continuo	us (per SD incr.) <sup>2</sup>	196,756/13,703	1.13 (1.11-1.16)	196,756/16,794	1.12(1.10-1.15)
BMI quintiles					
Q1	20.3 (15.0-21.5)	39,392/2,063	Reference	39,392/2,567	Reference
Q2	22.4 (21.6-23.2)	39,365/2,541	1.03 (0.96-1.10)	39,365/3,136	1.10 (1.05-1.16)
Q3	24.1 (23.3-25.1)	39,487/2,884	1.11 (1.03-1.18)	39,487/3,524	1.16 (1.10-1.22)
Q4	26.3 (25.2-27.9)	39,180/3,084	1.24 (1.16-1.33)	39,180/3,761	1.21 (1.15-1.27)
Q5	30.5 (28.0-60.0)	39,332/3,131	1.34 (1.25-1.44)	39,332/3,806	1.33 (1.26-1.40)
P for trend/χ2	2		<0.01/265.86		<0.01/318.64
BMI continuo	us (per SD incr.) <sup>2</sup>	196,756/13,703	1.13 (1.11-1.15)	196,756/16,794	1.12(1.09-1.14)

Table 4. Hazard ratios (95% confidence interval) of all established obesity-related cancers and all established and potential obesity-related cancers combined according to BMI and WC quintiles.

Abbreviations: WC, waist circumference; BMI, body mass index; HR, hazard ratio; CI, confidence interval; SD, standard deviation.

<sup>1</sup> Hazard ratios were calculated by use of Cox regression using age as time scale, stratified by calendar year of birth (<1940, 1940-1949, 1950-1959, 1960-1969, ≥1970), and adjusted for baseline age (continuous), smoking status, cohort, marital status, education level, birth country, income level, and main source of income. We additionally adjusted for mode of waist circumference assessment and height (continuous) for the analysis of waist circumference, and mode of weight and height assessment for the analysis of body mass index.

<sup>2</sup> HRs were corrected for regression dilution ratios of body mass index or waist circumference (men, BMI: 0.92, WC: 0.78; women, BMI: 0.95, WC: 0.83).

Exposure	No. at risk/cases HR (95% CI)	IS HR (95% CI)		No. at risk/cases HR (95% CI)	HR (95% CI)		Cases	HR (95% CI)	
All tertile-BMI te	BMI tertile-BMI tertile-specific WC tertile								
T1 T1	16 862/309	Reference	•	23 401/1319	Reference	•	450	Reference	•
T2	17 376/494	1.17 (1.01-1.35)	ł	22 093/1278	1.06 (0.98-1.15)	ł	446	1.09 (0.96-1.24)	ł
T3	13 244/509	1.35 (1.17-1.56)	I	20 102/1131	1.03 (0.95-1.12)	ł	441	1.16 (1.01-1.33)	I
T2 T1	17 855/455	1.19 (1.03-1.38)	I	22 556/1930	1.15 (1.07-1.24)	Ŧ	625	1.20 (1.06-1.36)	ł
T2	15 607/500	1.32 (1.14-1.52)	Į	22 771/1616	1.15 (1.07-1.24)	ł	604	1.24 (1.10-1.41)	Ī
T3	14 012/561	1.45 (1.26-1.67)	I	20 274/1407	1.18 (1.09-1.27)	Ŧ	562	1.33 (1.17-1.52)	ł
T3 T1	17 674/569	1.48 (1.29-1.71)	Į	23 263/2007	1.24 (1.15-1.33)	Ŧ	738	1.27 (1.13-1.43)	Ī
T2	15 489/539	1.56 (1.35-1.79)	I	21 904/1709	1.28 (1.19-1.38)	ł	676	1.41 (1.25-1.60)	Ī
T3	14 315/546	1.91 (1.66-2.20)	İ	20 392/1506	1.43 (1.33-1.55)	Ī	572	1.53 (1.34-1.74)	I
MI tertile-BMI te	BMI tertile-BMI tertile-specific BMI tertile								
T1 T1	15 877/414	Reference	•	21 869/1071	Reference	•	398	Reference	•
Τ2	15 791/435	1.01 (0.89-1.16)	ł	22 112/1258	1.07 (0.99-1.17)	Ŧ	430	1.00 (0.87-1.15)	ł
	15 814/463	1.06 (0.93-1.21)	Ī	21 615/1399	1.16 (1.07-1.26)	Ŧ	509	1.14 (1.00-1.30)	ł
T2 T1	15 826/473	1.06 (0.93-1.21)	Ī	22 056/1476	1.15 (1.06-1.25)	Ī	554	1.16 (1.02-1.32)	ł
T2	15 963/499	1.12 (0.98-1.27)	ł	21 691/1609	1.24 (1.15-1.34)	Ŧ	616	1.26 (1.11-1.44)	Ī
T3	15 685/544	1.26 (1.11-1.43)	Ī	21 854/1668	1.24 (1.15-1.35)	ł	621	1.22 (1.08-1.39)	ł
T3 T1	15 846/549	1.29 (1.13-1.46)	I	22 200/1752	1.27 (1.17-1.37)	ł	670	1.26 (1.11-1.43)	Ī
T2	15 819/567	1.40 (1.23-1.59)	I	21 562/1777	1.35 (1.25-1.46)	ł	694	1.36 (1.20-1.55)	I
Т3	15 813/538	1.58 (1.39-1.80)	I	21 797/1693	1.46 (1.35-1.57)	ł	622	1.38 (1.21-1.57)	I
r SD higher WC	Per SD higher WC within BMI quintiles								
a1	28 588/766	1.19 (1.05-1.36)	Ī	39 392/2063	1.06 (0.96-1.17)	ł	737	1.15 (0.98-1.35)	I
02	28 391/840	1.08 (0.94-1.23)	ł	39 365/2541	0.95 (0.87-1.04)	Ŧ	936	1.11 (0.96-1.29)	I
Q3	28 516/890	1.16 (1.02-1.32)	I	39 487/2884	1.02 (0.94-1.10)	ł	1068	1.10 (0.98-1.25)	ł
Q4	28 453/1000	1.24 (1.10-1.40)	ł	39 180/3084	1.03 (0.97-1.10)	Ŧ	1176	1.06 (0.96-1.18)	Ŧ
10	28 486/986	1.13 (1.05-1.22)	Ŧ	39 332/3131	1.08 (1.03-1.12)	Ŧ	1197	1.07 (0.99-1.14)	Ŧ
r SD hinher BM	Per SD hicher BMI within WC quintiles								
Q1	27 105/554	1.10 (0.94-1.29)	ł	46 406/2880	1.11 (1.03-1.19)	ł	995	1.10 (0.98-1.24)	ł
02	25 642/727	1.00 (0.86-1.16)	ł	38 788/2577	1.06 (0.98-1.16)	Ī	995	1.05 (0.97-1.21)	I
Q3	34 383/1118	0.95 (0.84-1.07)	Ŧ	33 802/2447	1.05 (0.97-1.14)	ł	903	0.96 (0.84-1.10)	ł
Q4	26 640/965	1.11 (0.98-1.24)	I	39 450/2967	1.05 (0.99-1.12)	ł	1142	1.01 (0.91-1.12)	ł
10	28 664/1118	1.08 (1.01-1.16)	Ŧ	38 310/2832	1.10 (1.06-1.14)	Ŧ	1119	1.03 (0.97-1.09)	Ŧ
WC residual analysis	sis								
er SD higher WC	Per SD higher WC residual 142 434/4482	1.09 (1.06-1.12)	Ŧ	196 756/13 703	1.03 (1.02-1.05)		5154	1.06 (1.03-1.09)	Ŧ
		u c	10 15 20		5 C	10 15	0.0	20	10 15 20

Figure 8. Hazard ratios (95% confidence interval) of all established obesity-related cancers combined associated with body mass index and waist circumference within body mass index and waist circumference tertiles and quintiles in men (A) and women (B) separately. HR, hazard ratio; Cl, confidence interval; SD, standard deviation; WC, waist circumference; BMI, body mass index.

# Paper III

#### Metabolic health status and body mass index and risk of obesityrelated cancers

A total of 797,193 individuals, 397,082 women and 400,111 men, with a mean baseline age of 43 years (SD = 9.1) were eligible for analysis. Obesity represented 10% (n = 81,423) and metabolically unhealthy represented 35% (n = 276,489) of all individuals. Metabolically healthy normal weight and metabolically unhealthy obesity were prevalent in 42% (n = 334,924) and 7% (n = 54,238) of the population, respectively. After an average follow-up of 20 years (SD = 7.8), 23,630 established obesity-related cancer cases (16,114 in women, 7,516 in men) had been recorded.

Sex-specific HRs for combinations of metabolic health status and BMI of all established obesity-related cancers combined are shown in Figure 9. Compared to metabolically healthy normal weight, the HR for all established obesity-related cancers combined in metabolically unhealthy obesity was 1.91 (95% CI 1.74-2.09) in men and 1.43 (95% CI 1.35-1.51) in women ( $P_{\text{sex-interaction}} = 0.001$ ).



**Figure 9. Hazard ratios (95% confidence interval) of all obesity-related cancers in 797,193 women and men according to combinations of metabolic health status and body mass index.** Hazard ratios were calculated by use of Cox regression using age as timescale, adjusted for sex, baseline age, and smoking status and pack-years and stratified by cohort and date of birth. Normal weight: 18.5 < BMI < 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>; overweight: 25 < BMI < 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>; obesity: BMI < 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>; metabolically healthy: middle and lowest tertile of metabolic score; metabolically unhealthy: top tertile of metabolic score. Metabolic score composes equal weight from mid-blood pressure, glucose, and triglycerides. BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio; Met., metabolically

Figure 10 shows HRs of separate cancers for combinations of metabolic health status and BMI. Higher risks in metabolically unhealthy obesity relative to metabolically healthy normal weight were found for all separate obesity-related cancers, except multiple myeloma and, in women, postmenopausal breast, and ovarian cancer. The strongest effect estimates of metabolically unhealthy obesity were found for endometrial cancer (HR 3.00, 95% CI 2.65-3.39), liver cancer (HR 2.74, 95% CI 2.13-3.53), "other" obesity-related cancers comprising oesophageal adenocarcinoma and gastric-cardia cancer (HR 2.56, 95% CI 1.97-3.32), and renal cell cancer (HR 2.55, 95% CI 2.18-2.98). A sex interaction was observed for colon cancer and multiple myeloma ( $P_{\text{sex-interaction}} = 0.003$  and 0.01, respectively). For colon cancer, metabolically unhealthy obesity conveyed a higher risk in men (HR 1.67, 95% CI 1.42-1.96) than in women (HR 1.18, 95% CI 1.00-1.39). No differential risk with metabolically unhealthy obesity was observed in women and men for multiple myeloma (HR 0.83, 95% CI 0.57-1.20; HR 0.98, 95% CI 0.66-1.46).

Regarding metabolically healthy obesity and overweight, increased risks of all established obesity-related cancers combined were observed for both men and women relative to metabolically healthy normal weight (Figure 9). For separate cancers, metabolically healthy obesity or overweight were associated with an increased risk of cancers of the colon, endometrium, gallbladder, liver, and renal cell carcinoma (Figure 10).

A positive, additive interaction between metabolic health status and BMI (normal weight/obesity) was observed regarding the risk of all established obesity-related cancers combined among men (P = 0.02), rectal cancer among men (P = 0.04), and endometrial cancer among women (P = 0.07). When BMI was categorised into normal weight vs. overweight and obesity, the P value of interaction for endometrial cancer was reduced to 0.01. The absolute risk from age 35 to 85 of all established obesity-related cancers combined among men and women separately, rectal cancer among men, and endometrial cancer among women are shown in Figure 11. The additive interactions were also reflected in the absolute risk curves, where the risk difference between individuals with metabolically healthy and metabolically unhealthy was larger among individuals with obesity than normal weight. No multiplicative interactions were observed.

Cancer type/exposure	No. at risk/cases	HR (95% CI)	P sex-interaction
Colon cancer Met. healthy normal weight Met. unhealthy normal weight Met. healthy overweight Met. unhealthy overweight Met. healthy obesity Met. unhealthy obesity	218,869/1,365 56,187/546 105,713/791 77,414/906 19,682/141 38,528/405	Reference 1.07 (0.98-1.17) 1.10 (1.02-1.18) 1.24 (1.15-1.34) 1.28 (1.08-1.52) 1.47 (1.33-1.62)	0.003
Rectal cancer Met, healthy normal weight Met, unhealthy normal weight Met, healthy overweight Met, unhealthy overweight Met, healthy obesity Met, unhealthy obesity	218,869/912 56,187/336 105,713/487 77,414/493 19,682/79 38,528/226	Reference 1.05 (0.94-1.16) 1.00 (0.91-1.10) 1.14 (1.03-1.25) 1.09 (0.88-1.35) 1.24 (1.09-1.41)	0.30
Pancreatic cancer Vet. healthy normal weight Vet. unhealthy normal weight Vet. healthy overweight Vet. unhealthy overweight Vet. healthy obesity Vet. unhealthy obesity	218,869/454 56,187/217 105,713/253 77,414/301 19,682/42 38,528/129	Reference 1.25 (1.07-1.47) 1.08 (0.94-1.24) 1.26 (1.09-1.44) 1.27 (0.96-1.69) 1.43 (1.21-1.72)	0.20
Renal cell cancer Met. healthy normal weight Wet. unhealthy normal weight Wet. healthy overweight Wet. healthy obesity Wet. healthy obesity	218,869/383 56,187/193 105,713/285 77,414/304 19,682/51 38,528/191	Reference 1.42 (1.20-1.68) 1.27 (1.11-1.44) 1.59 (1.39-1.83) 1.72 (1.34-2.21) 2.55 (2.18-2.98)	0.60
Postmenopausal breast cancer Vet. healthy normal weight Vet. unhealthy normal weight Vet. healthy overweight Vet. healthy overweight Vet. healthy obesity Vet. unhealthy obesity	145,302/2,644 48,154/1,113 46,905/1,006 43,158/1,136 9,873/229 24,916/664	Reference 1.04 (0.96-1.12) 1.08 (1.00-1.16) 1.04 (0.97-1.13) 1.13 (0.97-1.31) 1.08 (0.99-1.18)	
Endometrial cancer Vet. healthy normal weight Vet. unhealthy normal weight Vet. healthy overweight Vet. healthy overweight Vet. healthy obesity Vet. unhealthy obesity	193,295/786 54,200/308 59,414/352 47,714/371 13,581/132 28,878/433	Reference 1.11 (0.96-1.28) 1.33 (1.17-1.53) 1.46 (1.27-1.67) 2.36 (1.93-2.88) 3.00 (2.65-3.39)	
Ovarian cancer Aet. healthy normal weight Aet. unhealthy normal weight Aet. healthy overweight Aet. healthy overweight Aet. healthy obesity Aet. unhealthy obesity	193,295/694 54,200/258 59,414/255 47,714/211 13,581/48 28,878/148	Reference 1.02 (0.88-1.20) 1.12 (0.96-1.30) 0.96 (0.82-1.14) 1.04 (0.77-1.41) 1.17 (0.97-1.41)	
Aultiple myeloma Aet. healthy normal weight Aet. unhealthy normal weight Aet. healthy overweight Aet. healthy obesity Aet. healthy obesity	218,869/262 56,187/99 105,713/186 77,414/162 19,682/20 38,528/56	Reference 1.06 (0.84-1.34) 1.34 (1.13-1.58) 1.28 (1.07-1.53) 0.95 (0.64-1.45) 0.93 (0.71-1.21)	0.01
iver, intrahepatic bile ducts Aet. healthy normal weight Aet. unhealthy normal weight Aet. healthy overweight Aet. healthy obesity Aet. unhealthy obesity	218,869/144 56,187/73 105,713/97 77,414/138 19,682/25 38,528/97	Reference 1.28 (0.98-1.70) 1.14 (0.89-1.46) 1.60 (1.27-2.02) 1.93 (1.28-2.93) 2.74 (2.13-3.53)	0.80
Sallbladder Aet. healthy normal weight Aet. unhealthy normal weight Aet. healthy overweight Aet. unhealthy overweight Aet. healthy obesity Aet. unhealthy obesity	218,869/252 56,187/118 105,713/172 77,414/187 19,682/29 38,528/103	Reference 1.27 (0.94-1.71) 1.45 (1.12-1.89) 1.37 (1.05-1.79) 1.84 (1.15-2.94) 1.62 (1.17-2.26)	0.40
Other obesity-related cancers Aet. healthy normal weight Aet. unhealthy normal weight Aet. healthy overweight Aet. nhealthy obesity Aet. healthy obesity Aet. unhealthy obesity	218,869/252 56,187/118 105,713/172 77,414/187 19,682/29 38,528/103	Reference 1.26 (0.96-1.64) 1.14 (0.91-1.42) 1.40 (1.12-1.74) 1.46 (0.88-2.44) 2.56 (1.97-3.32)	0.60

Figure 10. Hazard ratios (95% confidence interval) of obesity-related cancers for specific sites in 797,193 women and men according to combinations of metabolic health status and body mass index. Other obesity-related cancers include oesophageal adenocarcinoma and stomach-cardia cancer. BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio; Met., metabolically



(A) All established obesity-related cancers (women), No. cases = 16,114



(B) All established obesity-related cancers (men), No. cases = 7,516







Figure 11. Risk of all obesity-related cancers among women (A), all obesity-related cancers among men (B), endometrial cancer (C), rectal cancer among men (D) among 397,082 women and 400,111 men according to combinations of metabolic health status and body mass index. Shaded areas are 95% confidence bands. BMI, body mass index

# Paper IV

## Leisure-time physical activity and body mass index and risk of obesityrelated cancers

A total of 570,021 individuals (284,928 women, 285,093 men) with a mean baseline age of 43 years (SD = 7.5) were involved in the study. Approximately 13% of women and 26% of men were categorised into the moderate to hard PA group, and 63% of women and 46% of men had a low-to-normal BMI. A total of 19,074 individuals (12,075 in women, 6,999 in men) were diagnosed with established obesity-related cancers after a follow-up of 20 years (SD = 8.0) on average.

Compared to individuals with sedentary to light leisure-time PA, individuals with moderate to hard PA showed a lower risk of all established obesity-related cancers combined (HR 0.93, 95% CI 0.90-0.96), colon cancer (HR 0.91, 95% CI 0.84-0.98), and renal cell cancer (HR 0.79, 95% CI 0.69-0.91) (Table 5). These associations slightly attenuated after additionally adjusting for BMI. No sex interaction was observed.

Figure 12 shows HRs for the combination of leisure-time PA and BMI for all established obesity-related cancers combined and separate cancers. Compared to individuals with overweight or obesity and low PA, individuals with low-to-normal weight and high PA had a lower risk of all established obesity-related cancers combined (HR 0.76, 95% CI 0.72-0.80). For separate cancers, individuals with lowto-normal weight and high PA had a lower risk of colon cancer, pancreatic cancer, endometrial cancer, renal cell carcinoma, multiple myeloma, and the combination of "other" obesity-related cancers composed of oesophageal adenocarcinoma, stomach-cardia cancer, liver cancer and gallbladder cancer. The strongest effect size was found for endometrial cancer (HR 0.53, 95% CI 0.43-0.65), renal cell carcinoma (HR 0.59, 95% CI 0.49-0.73), and "other" obesity-related cancers (HR 0.66, 95% CI 0.54-0.82). For all obesity-related cancers combined, endometrial cancer, multiple myeloma and "other" obesity-related cancers, the inverse associations appeared to be driven more by BMI than PA. No additive or multiplicative interactions were found between PA and BMI. No sex interactions were observed.

Cancer type	Level of leisure time PA <sup>1</sup>	No. at risk/ cases	HR (95% CI) <sup>2</sup> Not BMI-adjusted	HR (95% CI) <sup>3</sup> BMI-adjusted	P sex-
All established obesity-related cancers	All Low PA High PA Women	460,382/16,127 109,639/2,947	Reference 0.93 (0.90-0.96)	Reference 0.94 (0.91-0.98)	0.67
	Low PA High PA Men	248,433/10,696 36,495/1,379	Reference 0.93 (0.88-0.98)	Reference 0.95 (0.90-1.01)	
	Low PA High PA	211,949/5,431 73,144/1,568	Reference 0.92 (0.87-0.97)	Reference 0.94 (0.89-1.00)	
Colon cancer	All Low PA High PA Women	460,382/3,841 109,639/779	Reference 0.91 (0.84-0.98)	Reference 0.92 (0.85-1.00)	0.67
	Low PA High PA Men	248,433/1,974 36,495/249	Reference 0.94 (0.82-1.07)	Reference 0.95 (0.84-1.09)	
	Low PA High PA	211,949/1,867 73,144/530	Reference 0.89 (0.80-0.98)	Reference 0.91 (0.83-1.00)	
Rectal cancer	All Low PA High PA Women	460,382/2,336 109,639/513	Reference 0.93 (0.84-1.02)	Reference 0.93 (0.85-1.03)	0.39
	Low PA High PA Men	248,433/1,045 36,495/141	Reference 0.99 (0.83-1.19)	Reference 1.01 (0.84-1.20)	
	Low PA High PA	211,949/1,291 73,144/372	Reference 0.91 (0.81-1.03)	Reference 0.92 (0.82-1.04)	
Pancreatic cancer	All Low PA High PA Women	460,382/1,168 109,639/221	Reference 0.89 (0.77-1.03)	Reference 0.90 (0.78-1.04)	0.92
	Low PA High PA Men	248,433/560 36,495/65	Reference 0.89 (0.69-1.15)	Reference 0.90 (0.70-1.17)	
	Low PA High PA	211,949/608 73,144/156	Reference 0.88 (0.74-1.06)	Reference 0.89 (0.74-1.06)	
Postmenopausal breast cancer	Women Low PA High PA	171,989/3,180 22,272/467	Reference 0.99 (0.89-1.09)	Reference 0.99 (0.90-1.09)	
Endometrial cancer	Women Low PA High PA	248,433/1,689 36,495/201	Reference 0.88 (0.76-1.02)	Reference 0.95 (0.82-1.10)	
Ovarian cancer	Women Low PA High PA	248,433/1,144 36,495/155	Reference 1.02 (0.86-1.21)	Reference 1.03 (0.87-1.21) (Continued)	

# Table 5. Hazard ratio (95% confidence interval) of established obesity-related cancers by level of leisure-time physical activity.

Cancer type	Level of leisure time PA <sup>1</sup>	No. at risk/ cases	HR (95% CI) <sup>2</sup> Not BMI-adjusted	HR (95% CI) <sup>3</sup> BMI-adjusted	P sex-
Renal cell cancer	All				0.11
	Low PA	460,382/1,189	Reference	Reference	
	High PA	109,639/237	0.79 (0.69-0.91)	0.82 (0.71-0.95)	
	Women				
	Low PA	248,433/450	Reference	Reference	
	High PA	36,495/37	0.63 (0.45-0.89)	0.66 (0.47-0.93)	
	Men				
	Low PA	211,949/739	Reference	Reference	
	High PA	73,144/200	0.84 (0.72-0.98)	0.87 (0.74-1.02)	
Multiple myeloma	All				0.05
	Low PA	460,382/666	Reference	Reference	
	High PA	109,639/168	1.03 (0.87-1.23)	1.05 (0.88-1.25)	
	Women	0.40, 400,004	D (	D (	
	Low PA	248,433/301	Reference	Reference	
	High PA Men	36,495/32	0.77 (0.53-1.11)	0.77 (0.53-1.11)	
	Low PA	211,949/365	Reference	Reference	
	High PA	73,144/136	1.16 (0.95-1.42)	1.19 (0.97-1.45)	
Other obesity-	All	75,144/150	1.10 (0.93-1.42)	1.19 (0.97-1.43)	0.07
related cancers <sup>5</sup>	Low PA	460,382/955	Reference	Reference	0.07
	High PA	109,639/216	0.95 (0.82-1.11)	0.99 (0.85-1.15)	
	Women	100,000/210	0.00 (0.02 1.11)	0.00 (0.00 1.10)	
	Low PA	248,433/373	Reference	Reference	
	High PA	36,495/37	0.73 (0.52-1.03)	0.76 (0.54-1.07)	
	Men	00,400/01	0.70 (0.02-1.00)	0.70 (0.04-1.07)	
	Low PA	211,949/582	Reference	Reference	
	High PA	73,144/179	1.03 (0.87-1.22)	1.08 (0.91-1.28)	
	•	,	1.03 (0.07-1.22)	( /	

Abbreviations: HR, hazard ratio; CI, confidence interval; PA, physical activity.

<sup>1</sup> Low PA: sedentary to light PA, High PA: moderate to hard PA.

<sup>2</sup> Hazard ratios from Cox regression models with age as time scale, adjusted for sex, cohort, baseline age, date of birth in 5 categories (before 1931, 1931-1938, 1939-1946, 1947-1954, 1955 and later), and smoking status and intensity in 7 categories.

<sup>3</sup> Hazard ratios from Cox regression models with age as time scale, adjusted for sex, cohort, baseline age, date of birth in 5 categories (before 1931, 1931-1938, 1939-1946, 1947-1954, 1955 and later), smoking status and intensity in 7 categories, and BMI (continuous).

<sup>4</sup> The *P*-value for sex-interaction was based on Wald statistics of the product terms of sex and leisuretime physical activity in the Cox regression model.

<sup>5</sup> Other obesity-related cancers include oesophageal adenocarcinoma, stomach cardia, liver/intrahepatic bile ducts, and gallbladder/biliary tract cancer.

						Interaction	interaction
All established obesity-related cancers High BMI-low PA High BMI-low PA Low BMI-low PA Low BMI-high PA Low BMI-high PA	212,638/8,180 46,523/1,389 247,744/7,947 62,716/1,558	• + +		Reference 0.94 (0.89-0.99) 0.81 (0.79-0.84) 0.76 (0.72-0.80)	0.34	0.96	0.77
Colon cancer High BMI-low PA High bMI-low PA Low BMI-low PA Low BMI-high PA	212,638/2,024 46,923/395 247,744/1,817 62,716/384	•       	I	Reference 0.95 (0.86-1.06) 0.82 (0.77-0.88) 0.73 (0.65-0.81)	0.23	0.34	0.48
Rectal cancer High BMI-low PA High BMI-low PA Low BMI-high PA Low BMI-high PA	212,638/1,167 46,923/223 247,744/1,169 62,716/290	• •		Reference 0.88 (0.76-1.02) 0.91 (0.84-0.99) 0.89 (0.78-1.01)	0.07	0.28	0.25
High BMI-low PA High BMI-low PA High BMI-low PA Low BMI-low PA	212,638/581 46,923/103 247,744/587 62,716/118		I	Reference 0.90 (0.73-1.11) 0.88 (0.79-0.99) 0.79 (0.65-0.96)	0.96	0.93	0.99
Postmenopausal preast cancer High BMI-low PA Low BMI-low PA Low BMI-low PA	64,958/1,482 6,958/187 107,989/1,698 15,314/280	•	Į,	Reference 0.95 (0.81-1.10) 0.89 (0.83-0.96) 0.91 (0.80-1.04)		0.42	0.41
High BMI-low PA High BMI-low PA Low BMI-low PA Low BMI-low PA	94,979/908 11,514/91 153,454/781 24,981/110		I	Reference 0.89 (0.72-1.11) 0.56 (0.51-0.62) 0.53 (0.43-0.65)		0.73	0.52
Ovarian cancer High BMI-low PA High BMI-low PA Low BMI-low PA Low BMI-high PA	94,979/463 11,514/63 153,454/681 24,981/92			Reference 1.22 (0.94-1.59) 0.93 (0.83-1.05) 0.86 (0.69-1.08)		0.11	0.13
High BMI-low PA High BMI-low PA High BMI-low PA Low BMI-low PA	212,638/660 46,923/123 247,744/529 62,716/114			Reference 0.81 (0.67-0.99) 0.74 (0.66-0.83) 0.59 (0.49-0.73)	0.37	0.93	0.70
Multiple myaloma High BMI-low PA Low BMI-low PA Low BMI-low PA	212,638/357 46,923/92 247,744/309 62,716/76			Reference 1.17 (0.93-1.47) 0.82 (0.70-0.96) 0.77 (0.60-0.98)	60.0	0.19	0.19
Unter obesity-related carcers Hign BMI-hign PA Low BMI-hign PA Low BMI-high PA	212,638/562 46,923/116 247,744/393 62,716/100		I	Reference 0.95 (0.78-1.16) 0.66 (0.58-0.76) 0.66 (0.54-0.82)	0.99	0.73	0.68

Figure 12. Hazard ratios (95% confidence interval) of obesity-related cancers, single and combined according to combinations of leisure-time physical activity and body mass index level. Multiplicative interactions of PA and BMI, and a three-way interaction of PA, BMI, and sex, were tested by the Wald test of the respective product term in the model. BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; HR, hazard ratio; PA, physical activity.

# Discussion

# Main findings

This thesis further strengthens the evidence of already established obesity-related cancers, presents the evidence for positive associations between BMI and some cancers that are potentially related to obesity but for which there is insufficient evidence, and suggests additional cancers, most of which are rare, to be potentially obesity related. Furthermore, we found that, in men, WC is a slightly stronger risk factor for obesity-related cancers compared to BMI, and WC offers additional risk information beyond that provided by BMI alone. In women, however, the associations of WC and BMI with cancer risk were similar in magnitude, and WC provided little additional risk information beyond BMI. Obesity together with metabolically unhealthy status (metabolically unhealthy obesity), based on a score for blood pressure, plasma triglycerides, and glucose, conveyed the highest risk of any obesity-related cancer compared with other combinations. Obesity remained a risk factor even in a healthy metabolic status (metabolically healthy obesity), although the associations were weakened. We also found that compared to sedentary to light leisure-time PA, moderate to hard leisure-time PA was associated with a lower risk of all obesity-related, colon, and renal cell cancer. A low-to-normal range of BMI combined with higher level PA was associated with a further reduced cancer risk.

Observational studies on obesity and cancer risk using BMI as adiposity indicator have confirmed 13 cancers as obesity related; however, this conclusion was made based on studies mostly focusing on more common site-specific cancers<sup>82,172</sup>. The evidence for the relationship between obesity and risk of many cancers is inconclusive, as they are either rare or weakly associated with BMI. In this thesis, based on the dataset with 4.1 million individuals and more than 300,000 incident cancer cases, we investigated the association between BMI and the risk of 122 cancers and cancer subtypes, grouped by topography and morphology. Our findings are consistent with current evidence on established obesity-related cancers, and we also suggest that some of the associations are driven by specific cancer subtypes, such as clear cell carcinoma for renal cell cancer and papillary carcinoma for thyroid cancer. Our results support the association between BMI and a range of cancers reported by the IARC, the WCRF, or an umbrella review from 2017 to have a potential association with obesity, but with insufficient evidence<sup>77-79</sup>. These include

cancers of the oral cavity, cervix (adenocarcinoma only), extrahepatic bile duct, and malignant melanoma (men only). We also provide evidence for a positive association between BMI and haematological malignancies, for which diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, other lymphoid neoplasms, and myeloid neoplasms (the IARC report used non-Hodgkin lymphoma and leukaemia instead, but the included subtypes largely overlap) have previously been reported to be associated with obesity separately, and multiple myeloma is an already established obesity-related cancer. This association is also supported by a biological mechanism where adipocytes may modify the bone marrow microenvironment and provide substances that could enhance the growth and survival of tumour cells<sup>173</sup>. In haematological malignancies, as in several other cancers, there are other potential mechanisms linking obesity and cancer, including insulin resistance, insulin-like growth factors, and systemic inflammation<sup>85</sup>.

We found positive associations between BMI and risk for several cancers for which there was little or no evidence from previous studies. These include cancers of the small intestine, stomach (gastrointestinal stromal tumours), vulva, penis, some endocrine organs, and connective tissue. The strongest association was observed with penile cancer, where the risk was found to be twice as high in men with obesity compared to those of normal weight. It has been suggested that this link may be influenced by factors such as poor hygiene and difficulty with self-examination in individuals with severe obesity<sup>174</sup>. A variety of rare malignant endocrine neoplasms, including cancers of the pancreatic islets, adrenal glands, parathyroid gland, and pituitary gland, were found to have a positive association with BMI. Since these organs secrete hormones, it is biologically plausible that excess weight leads to hormonal changes that promote cancer development. However, further epidemiological and experimental studies are needed to confirm this association.

BMI has been widely used in observational studies; however, the accuracy of BMI has been questioned because it does not distinguish between muscle mass and fat mass. It is suggested that the use of other indicators could provide information on fat distribution. WC is a simple and cost-effective anthropometric measure that reflects abdominal fat accumulation<sup>175,176</sup>. However, in contrast to BMI, the effects of WC on specific cancers remain less investigated. A study based on 3.5 million Spanish adults reported comparable estimates of cancer risk associated with adiposity and overlapping CIs using BMI and WC<sup>82</sup>, which are largely in line with our findings. However, although the 95% CIs for HRs per SD often overlapped, we found that HRs for WC were generally slightly higher than those for BMI, with point estimates being higher for WC in 12 out of 17 analysed cancers for men and 16 out of 22 analysed cancers for women, similar to Barberio et al.<sup>177</sup>. One plausible explanation for the differences between results for WC compared to BMI in our study, as compared to that of other studies, is the higher intra-personal variability of WC compared to BMI due to greater random measurement error, which we, but not others, accounted. The availability of repeated measurements allowed us to correct

HRs for RDR. And due to the greater RDR of WC compared with BMI, the HRs for WC strengthened relatively more. For example, for established obesity-related cancers in men, the RDR-corrected HRs were 1.19 for BMI and 1.25 for WC, whereas the uncorrected values would have been 1.17 and 1.19, respectively, thereby closer together.

Central obesity, as measured by WC, reflects accumulation of fat around abdominal organs, which are metabolically more active and associated with adverse health outcomes such as insulin resistance, inflammation, and dyslipidaemia<sup>84,178,179</sup>. As a result, individuals with similar BMI may have different cancer risks due to variations in fat distribution. It is assumed that a high WC poses a greater risk than a high BMI. Our results support this, suggesting that WC appears to provide additional risk information beyond that conveyed by BMI, particularly in men compared with women. A plausible explanation is that men tend to store fat viscerally, while women typically accumulate more subcutaneous fat<sup>180</sup>. Consequently, WC is a more accurate measure of visceral fat in men, potentially making it a stronger risk factor for cancer risk. This may explain why WC adds risk information beyond BMI in men but not in women. The difference in how WC and BMI relate to cancer risk between men and women underscores the complexity of the impact of obesity on cancer development.

Another way to improve risk stratification of BMI, rather than using a different adiposity marker, could be to combine BMI with metabolic risk markers. Obesity combined with metabolic aberration in the metabolic syndrome or in summary scores has been consistently linked to an increased risk of several obesity-related cancers<sup>125,126,128,181-187</sup>. Evidence about the added contribution of metabolic aberrations beyond the effect of obesity on cancer risk is limited. One large European study showed that metabolically unhealthy obesity was associated with an increased risk for ten (nine obesity-related) out of 22 cancers<sup>188</sup>. In our study, the highest relative risks were found for endometrial, liver, and renal cell cancer, with both obesity and metabolic aberrations contributing to the elevated risks. We found no association between metabolically unhealthy obesity and multiple myeloma and ovarian cancer risk, consistent with the European study. It is worth noting that while different definitions of metabolically unhealthy were used - a metabolic score in our study, and the ATP III definition in the other study – similar findings were observed. Despite variations in definitions across studies, they all include components of hypertension, dyslipidaemia, and hyperglycaemia. These may jointly capture the aetiology linking metabolically unhealthy with cancer irrespective of the exact components and cut-points used, as has been suggested in relation to all-cause and cardiovascular mortality<sup>189,190</sup>.

Because individuals with metabolically healthy obesity typically show no evidence of insulin resistance, inflammation, or ectopic lipid deposition<sup>129,130</sup> – factors hypothesised to promote the development of cancer – there has been growing interest in whether metabolically healthy obesity is linked to an increased risk of

obesity-related cancers. Our study found that individuals with metabolically healthy obesity had an approximately 30% higher risk of developing any obesity-related cancer compared with individuals with metabolically healthy normal weight. The European study and a meta-analysis reported the association between metabolically healthy obesity and increased risk of several obesity-related cancers<sup>125,188</sup>. The associations for endometrial and kidney (renal cell) cancer are supported by our study. Moreover, we observed an increased risk of colon cancer in men with metabolically healthy obesity.

This thesis also systematically examined the interaction between BMI and metabolic health status in relation to the risk of several cancers. We observed positive interactions on the additive scale in relation to any obesity-related and rectal cancer among men, as well as for endometrial cancer in women. These findings suggest that obesity together with metabolic aberrations increase the risk of these cancers more than would be expected from the sum of their individual parts.

While excess weight heightens the likelihood of developing cancer, regular PA could help reduce the risk. The role of leisure-time PA on reducing risk of some cancers, including colon, postmenopausal breast, and endometrial cancer, has been supported by strong evidence<sup>74</sup>. An association for kidney cancer has been suggested by accumulating evidence<sup>133,191</sup>, which is also confirmed by our results. Our results did not confirm the association between PA and risk of postmenopausal breast and endometrial cancer; however, previous studies have shown heterogeneous results and modest effect sizes for postmenopausal breast cancer<sup>90</sup>. These observed heterogeneous findings between studies are potentially affected by different assessments and cut-points for PA. For example, for cancers where light exercise has been shown to reduce risk<sup>90</sup>, the association could not have been captured in our study due to the higher PA cut-point.

Some potential biological mechanisms underlying the link between obesity, PA, and cancer risk have been suggested. For example, obesity and physical inactivity contribute to energy imbalance, which may be linked to cancer through oxidative stress, DNA repair, and telomere length<sup>137</sup>. Maintaining an optimal level of energy balance, determined by PA and weight regulation, can reduce systemic and adipose tissue inflammation and angiogenesis, alter endogenous hormone metabolism and adipokine levels, and improve insulin sensitivity, which are strongly hypothesised biological mechanisms in the development of cancer<sup>136,138</sup>. These shared pathways also suggest the possibility for interaction between PA and obesity on cancer risk. However, our study found no evidence of multiplicative or additive interaction, which is consistent with findings from a Danish study<sup>192</sup>. The modest association between PA and cancer risk in our study may explain why no interaction with BMI was found. For all obesity-related cancers, BMI appeared to be a stronger factor in the joint association with PA on risk than was PA, which was also observed for some separate cancers, especially endometrial cancer. However, the strength of these associations and the individual contribution of PA and BMI are highly

dependent on the cut-points chosen, as discussed above, and on the specific markers used to measure PA and adiposity.

Given the prevalence of obesity, and its association with increased cancer risk. prevention of obesity is particularly important. Several guidelines have been published on the management of body weight in adults. The primary method of prevention is lifestyle modification, including healthy diet habits and increased activity. Besides prevention, lifestyle therapy is also the cornerstone of obesity treatment. In addition, lifestyle therapy combined with pharmacotherapy and metabolic and bariatric surgery might result in greater and more sustained weight loss. A few approved medications for the long-term treatment of obesity have been used widely, including liraglutide, naltrexone/bupropion, orlistat, and semaglutide. These medications work by reducing appetite and consequently energy intake, or by preventing food from becoming a useful source of calories by inducing early excretion<sup>193</sup>. However, the long-term consequence of these medications on obesity treatment and risk of other diseases is unknown. Bariatric surgery is a treatment for individuals with obesity class III which is defined as a BMI greater than 40, or a BMI more than 35 with obesity-associated comorbidity. The typical patients can expect to regain some weight over time, usually starting from the second postoperative year. The studies on the long-term durability of weight loss of bariatric surgery reported inconsistent results<sup>194</sup>. A systematic review of studies with 10-year follow-up showed that the mean percentage excess weight loss for whichever procedure is 50-60%<sup>195</sup>. It is worth noting that the risk of many chronic diseases, including cancer, diabetes, hypertension, osteoarthritis, and sleep apnoea has been shown to be reduced after bariatric surgery in people with obesity<sup>194</sup>.

# Methodological considerations

# Study design

Epidemiology is the study of the distribution and determinants of health-related states or events in specified populations. Observational studies are the most common design in epidemiology. In an observational study, the strength of the relationship between an exposure and disease variable is assessed through observation. Observational studies include cross-sectional studies, cohort studies, and case-control studies. In this thesis, all four papers were conducted using a cohort design. In a cohort study, an outcome or disease-free study population is first identified by the exposure and followed over time until the disease or outcome of interest occurs. Therefore, in all papers, we measured the exposure (BMI, WC, metabolic risk factors, and level of PA) before the occurrence of cancers. In Me-Can, follow-up consequently starts one year after the baseline examination to reduce

the possibility of reverse causation. In ODDS, less than 1% of individuals have less than one year of follow-up.

In this thesis, all four papers were conducted using survival analysis, a statistical procedure to investigate the outcome of interest over time until an event occurs. The Cox proportional hazards model was used to calculate the hazards. The choice of time scale is an important aspect of survival analysis. There are two choices of time scale for a Cox regression model, which are time-on-study, and age. Using age as the time scale is an indirect way to adjust for an age effect<sup>196</sup>. In this thesis, we used age as the time scale and controlled for birth cohort effects that can be achieved by stratifying the model on the birth cohort. One study also proposed that the use of time-on-study as the time scale will nevertheless yield approximately unbiased proportional hazard regression coefficients<sup>197</sup>. Clarifying the purpose of the study is crucial for choosing a method.

## Bias

#### Selection bias

Selection bias is a systematic error caused by the difference between characteristics of the study population and the population not involved in the research. It may occur when the participants have intrinsically distinct characteristics from the target population of the study, resulting in a biased sample, called self-selection bias or volunteer bias. Studies have shown that volunteers tend to come from a higher social standing than from a lower socio-economic background. One consequence of volunteer bias is that it undermines the external validity of a test (i.e., the ability of the test results to generalise to the rest of the population). In Me-Can, the attendance rates of all cohorts are 60-90%. The ODDS study consists of many cohorts. Representativeness of the background population for the two largest cohorts in the study, the Medical Birth Register and the Swedish Military Conscription Register, is high. Therefore, the effect of volunteer bias is limited. Attrition bias (loss to follow-up) is another common type of selection bias, which is a situation in which the subjects lose contact, resulting in missing data. Loss to follow-up may reduce the internal validity of the study. All cohorts used in this thesis were linked to the Cancer Register and Cause of Death Register which capture more than 95% of cancer diagnoses and death. This minimised the possibility of attrition bias in all papers.

#### Information bias

Information bias refers to bias occurring when key study variables are incorrectly measured or classified, also known as observation bias and misclassification. Reporting bias refers to a systematic error caused by research subjects intentionally exaggerating or understating certain information during the information collection

process. For example, when reporting weight, research subjects who have overweight or obesity may tend to underreport their weight or WC, while subjects who are underweight tend to overreport. In Papers I and II, the proportions of selfreported weight measurement are 6% and 39%, respectively, which may introduce the possibility of reporting bias. However, studies showed that measured and selfreported weight measurement had good agreement, with a Kappa statistic above 0.9<sup>198,199</sup>. In Papers III and IV, all weight and height measurements were measured. In Paper IV, the level of PA was self-reported. Previous studies suggested that there was moderate agreement between self-reported and measured levels of PA among adults<sup>200,201</sup>. Male sex and individuals with lower BMI tend to overestimate their PA level which can lead to misclassification<sup>200,202</sup>. Since participants were asked to indicate their usual level of PA during the year preceding the survey, this can also cause recall bias, a systematic error caused by differences in the accuracy or completeness of the recollections retrieved. In addition, measurement of WC may also introduce detection bias due to heterogeneity in the anatomical measurement site.

# Confounding

Confounding occurs in the calculation of association between exposure and outcome caused by one or more potential confounders. Confounder refers to factors associated with both the exposure and outcome, but not factors in the causal chain (mediator). An imbalanced distribution of confounders in comparison groups of the exposure causes confounding. Measures to reduce the effect of potential confounding include matching, randomisation, stratification, and measuring the known confounders and including them as covariates in multivariable analysis. In this thesis, confounding was controlled by including known confounders as covariates and strata in the models. In all papers, we adjusted or stratified for common confounders, including age, sex, and birth cohort. Smoking, a strong risk factor of many cancers, was adjusted for in the main analysis in Paper II-IV, and in the sensitivity analysis in Paper I.

Despite controlling for confounders in the analysis, distortion remains, which is called residual confounding. In observational studies, common causes for residual confounding include lack of detailed information on known confounders and no information on potential confounders. In Papers I and II, we had no information on the intensity of smoking for current smokers. Nevertheless, very few of the established and potential obesity-related cancers have a strong association with smoking. In all papers, information on potentially important cancer-specific confounders was incomplete, such as lifestyle (e.g., diet, alcohol, and PA), reproductive factors (e.g., parity and age at first birth), virus infection history (e.g., human papillomavirus and Epstein-Barr virus), and medication use, and were therefore not adjusted for. Failure to adjust for these factors or inadequate
adjustment could result in residual confounding. In Paper I, we applied the E-value method to assess the robustness of observed associations in the presence of residual confounding. For a larger E-value, it is less likely that an unmeasured confounder could fully explain the observed association with obesity<sup>203</sup>.

#### Type I and type II errors and statistical power

We used hypothesis testing to determine whether there was enough evidence in sample data to draw conclusions about the population. There are two types of error in hypothesis testing, type I error and type II error. A type I error, also known as a false-positive error, occurs when we erroneously state that the study found significant differences when there was actually no difference. A type II error or a false-negative error, occurs when the null hypothesis is incorrectly assumed to be true, i.e., concludes that a relationship does not exist when it actually does. When too many outcomes are investigated in a study, the potential of false positive findings increases, as in Paper I. Therefore, in addition to the results of statistical analysis from epidemiological studies, evidence from experimental studies and reliable biological mechanisms should be considered together when drawing a conclusion. A type II error usually occurs when the sample size is small. In this thesis, we set lower limits on the number of cases for outcomes. Only outcomes that reached the corresponding lower limits were analysed. Ensuring adequate sample size is one way to reduce type error, which can also increase the statistical power. For interaction analysis, according to the study by statistician Andrew Gelman, interactions require a minimum of four times the sample size to estimate a main effect, or 16 times greater to have adequate power<sup>204</sup>. The studies involving interactions in this thesis still does not meet this requirement, which may lead to false-negative results. However, to reduce this risk, we had a lower limit of number of cases to be analysed.

### Strengths and limitations

There are several strengths across the four papers. Firstly, linking individuals to national registers using unique personal identity numbers ensures high completeness and reduces attrition bias. The linkage to national cancer registers allows the investigation with detailed cancer categorisation, especially for Paper I. In addition, the large sample size and long follow-up give our investigation high statistical power and enable the investigation of rarer cancer forms.

The studies of this thesis have several limitations. Firstly, all studies used single baseline measurements of height, weight, WC, metabolic factors, and PA level. All PA information and parts of the body size measurements were self-reported. This

may lead to both random and systematic misclassification, potentially causing diluted or biased results. In Paper II, we partially accounted for this as we corrected the HR for WC that might be diluted by intra-personal variability due to physiological changes and random measurement error using the RDR method. In Paper III, the once-only measurement could not account for the long-term changes, such as the transition from metabolically healthy to unhealthy obesity. Information on potentially important cancer-specific confounders was incomplete as previously discussed, and therefore not adjusted. Finally, the investigation of multiple cancers increases the potential of type I error, i.e., false positive findings.

### Public health implication

The findings of this thesis have important public health implications. With the increasing prevalence of obesity worldwide, understanding its relationship with cancer is crucial for the development of targeted prevention programmes. The proportion of obesity-related cancers increased from 25% to 40% in our study population when the potential obesity-related cancers we identified were added to the established obesity-related cancers, suggesting a greater burden of obesity than previously recognised. The findings highlight the importance of comprehensive cancer prevention strategies that go beyond disease management and instead emphasise early control of obesity. Furthermore, WC was found to have a stronger association with obesity-related cancer risk than BMI in men, suggesting that monitoring abdominal fat may be a more effective strategy for assessing cancer risk, especially in men.

Early weight control intervention in individuals with metabolically healthy obesity is likely to be most effective in reducing the burden of obesity-related cancers. Targeting metabolic aberration among men and women with obesity could be effective in reducing the number of any obesity-related cancers in men and of endometrial cancer in women. Thus, public health measures should focus not only on reducing overall body weight, but also on improving metabolic health through lifestyle changes such as diet, exercise, and medical interventions. The protective role of leisure-time PA is also notable. The findings suggest that promoting regular moderate to hard leisure-time PA as a preventive measure to reduce the risk of these cancers, regardless of body weight, emphasizes the importance of promoting PA as a cancer-preventive measure for all individuals, not just those at risk of obesity.

Overall, public health efforts should consider multifaceted interventions targeting obesity, metabolic health, and PA to reduce the burden of obesity-related cancers. Public health interventions should also consider implementing recommendations based on sex differences and metabolic phenotypes to maximize their effectiveness.

# Conclusion

In this thesis, we aimed to investigate the association between obesity and cancer risk by using BMI and WC as obesity indicators. We also aimed to investigate the association between obesity in combination with metabolic aberrations and leisure-time PA and risk of obesity-related cancers.

#### Paper I

We identified 15 cancers in men and 16 in women (18 altogether), most of which are rare, as potential obesity-related cancers. Importantly, the magnitudes of the associations were largely comparable to those of the already established obesity-related cancers. We also provide evidence of specific cancer subtypes driving some associations with BMI.

#### Paper II

Compared to BMI, WC is a slightly stronger risk factor for obesity-related cancers in men, but not in women. WC appears to provide additional risk information beyond that conveyed by BMI in men.

#### Paper III

Metabolically unhealthy obesity was associated with higher risks of any obesityrelated cancer and with several specific cancers. For some cancers, obesity without metabolic aberrations remained a risk factor, albeit with a weaker association compared to metabolically unhealthy obesity. Furthermore, positive additive interactions were found between BMI and metabolic health status in relation to any obesity-related and rectal cancer among men and endometrial cancer in women. In general, these findings suggest that both obesity and metabolic aberrations are useful targets for prevention.

#### Paper IV

Moderate to hard leisure-time PA can help reduce the risk of obesity-related cancer, as well as colon and renal cell cancer. No interaction was found although higher PA together with low-to-normal weight was associated with a further reduced cancer risk.

### Future perspectives

The results of this thesis not only confirm existing evidence but also provide new insights, underscoring the importance of continued research in this field. Despite these advancements, the field remains far from fully understood, and many critical questions remain that need to be addressed.

- 1. The identification of potential obesity-related cancers in this thesis should be considered exploratory. Replication of these findings in future studies, validated through updated systematic reviews, is necessary, especially for rarer cancers.
- 2. Metabolically healthy obesity was observed to be associated with high risk of several obesity-related cancers, although inconsistent results have also been reported. Moreover, the existence of metabolically healthy obesity has been questioned, as it has been suggested to commonly be a transitional state to metabolically unhealthy obesity. It remains unclear how metabolic health status changes over time across BMI groups and how such dynamic metabolic changes affects cancer risk. Future research should investigate the impact of this transition on cancer risk.
- 3. This thesis relied on single baseline measurements of BMI and WC. Future research using more precise and repeated measures of adiposity could further clarify the relationship between body fat distribution and cancer risk.

In addition to the epidemiological evidence from observational studies, it is crucial to explore the underlying biological mechanisms that may drive these associations. Understanding the biological pathways and processes involved can provide a more comprehensive explanation for the observed relationships and help determine whether these associations are causal.

# Acknowledgements

My PhD journey has been a deeply enriching experience and marked by numerous milestones—some small, others significant—that have shaped my academic and personal development. Along the way, I have been incredibly fortunate to have the support of many who have helped me navigate this journey. I wish to express my heartfelt gratitude to everyone who contributed to my growth.

First and foremost, I am deeply thankful to my main supervisor, **Tanja Stocks**. I feel fortunate to have received this fantastic opportunity to work and learn. Thank you for your affirmation, which has strengthened my self-confidence. Each time I've made even a small advancement, you've been there with encouragement and support, which has motivated me to keep pushing forward with greater enthusiasm. I still remember that at the beginning you said you are always available when I have questions. Over the past four years, you have always prioritized my work, making time in your busy schedule to address my queries, review my work, and provide insightful feedback. Thank you for your professional support and the invaluable expertise you've shared.

Thanks to my co-supervisor, **Christel Häggström** and **Josef Fritz**. I am lucky to have you two as my co-supervisors. You have both been generous in sharing your insights, providing thoughtful and constructive feedback on every project, and helping me navigate challenges along the way. Your support has gone far beyond the usual responsibilities of a co-supervisor. You have both taken on roles that far exceed expectations, offering mentorship, encouragement, and guidance at each stage of my study.

I would like to thank my colleagues for providing me with a warm and harmonious team atmosphere and office environment. **Sylvia Jochems**, I always missed the days when I shared the office with you at the beginning of my PhD journey. The initial adjustment process is always a bit difficult, especially during the COVID period, but your company and encouragement gave me a lot of energy. **Stanley Teleka**, thanks for sharing your experience as a PhD student when I did not know anything. Those experiences and suggestions helped me avoid many detours. **Marisa da Silva**, it is my pleasure to be your colleague throughout my PhD journal. Exploring food in Dublin with you was an amazing experience. Our after-work activities are more enriched because of you. **Innocent Mboya**, my office partner who has always been there, thank you for always letting me have someone in the office to share the news

with or ask questions at the earliest opportunity. **Huyen Le**, it is nice to share the office and talk about life and project with you. Good luck to you on your PhD study.

I would like to express my appreciation to **Jianguang Ji** and **Xiao Wang**. This fouryear journey has been possible because of the initial opportunity you extended to me and your generous recommendation. I am deeply grateful for your support in my life and study during my five years in Sweden. Thank you for being such an essential part of this experience.

**Naiqi Zhang** and **Yanni Li**, thanks for inviting me to join your "girls' dormitory". I have had a very fulfilling few months. **Zhiyi Ding**, I'm glad to have you as a likeminded friend. It's just a pity that I moved to Malmö only in your last few months in Sweden. **Jingxue Pan** and **Mi Huang**, my nice neighbour, thanks for your help when I moved to the student apartment. **Wenqi Wang** and **Huan Yi**, thank you for the company and I will always remember our dinner time, late-night conversations, and the laughter. **Yishan Liu**, thanks for always being willing to lend a hand with gentleness and patience. Thanks to all members in the "lunch group". Please forgive me for not mentioning each of your names. I will miss the time we spent chatting about gossip, discussing news, and sharing discount information during lunch. All these make my workdays bright and special.

Thanks to my friends for standing by me every step of the way, even though we are separated by miles and time zones. You are, and always will be, my warm harbour and my safe haven, offering me comfort, grounding, and the reassurance that I am never truly alone.

**Hui Chen**, thanks for being my friend. Despite some unpleasant people and events, the days of living with you were always happy. Thanks for overcoming that unhappiness with me. You are the best roommate and travel mate. I would like to thank **Sinh Tran**, for your warm welcome when we moved to the Wallenberg building, for your invitation to the cake society, and for your company during fika, and after-work activity.

Last but not least, I would love to express my gratitude to my **mom** and **dad**. Thank you for always respecting my decisions and believing in me every step of the way. Your support and pride in me have been my greatest sources of strength. Having you as my most reliable support gives me the confidence to face some challenges.

### References

- 1. World Health Organization: Obesity and Overweight Fact sheet N 311. 2013.
- Kanazawa M, Yoshiike N, Osaka T, Numba Y, Zimmet P, Inoue S. Criteria and classification of obesity in Japan and Asia-Oceania. *World Rev Nutr Diet* 2005; 94: 1-12.
- 3. Collaboration NCDRF. Worldwide trends in underweight and obesity from 1990 to 2022: a pooled analysis of 3663 population-representative studies with 222 million children, adolescents, and adults. *Lancet* 2024; **403**(10431): 1027-50.
- 4. Collaboration NCDRF. Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. *Lancet* 2017; **390**(10113): 2627-42.
- 5. World Obesity Federation. World Obesity Atlas 2023 https://data.worldobesity.org/publications/?cat=19.
- 6. Tan DJH, Ng CH, Muthiah M, et al. Rising global burden of cancer attributable to high BMI from 2010 to 2019. *Metabolism* 2024; **152**: 155744.
- Hemmingsson E, Ekblom O, Kallings LV, et al. Prevalence and time trends of overweight, obesity and severe obesity in 447,925 Swedish adults, 1995-2017. Scand J Public Health 2021; 49(4): 377-83.
- 8. Kuskowska-Wolk A, Rossner S. Prevalence of obesity in Sweden: cross-sectional study of a representative adult population. *J Intern Med* 1990; **227**(4): 241-6.
- 9. Andersson E, Eliasson B, Steen Carlsson K. Current and future costs of obesity in Sweden. *Health Policy* 2022; **126**(6): 558-64.
- Bosy-Westphal A, Geisler C, Onur S, et al. Value of body fat mass vs anthropometric obesity indices in the assessment of metabolic risk factors. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 2006; **30**(3): 475-83.
- 11. Flegal KM, Shepherd JA, Looker AC, et al. Comparisons of percentage body fat, body mass index, waist circumference, and waist-stature ratio in adults. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2009; **89**(2): 500-8.
- 12. Alley DE, Ferrucci L, Barbagallo M, Studenski SA, Harris TB. A research agenda: the changing relationship between body weight and health in aging. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2008; **63**(11): 1257-9.
- Merchant RA, Seetharaman S, Au L, et al. Relationship of Fat Mass Index and Fat Free Mass Index With Body Mass Index and Association With Function, Cognition and Sarcopenia in Pre-Frail Older Adults. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* 2021; 12: 765415.

- 14. Batsis JA, Mackenzie TA, Bartels SJ, Sahakyan KR, Somers VK, Lopez-Jimenez F. Diagnostic accuracy of body mass index to identify obesity in older adults: NHANES 1999-2004. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 2016; **40**(5): 761-7.
- 15. Jeong SM, Lee DH, Rezende LFM, Giovannucci EL. Different correlation of body mass index with body fatness and obesity-related biomarker according to age, sex and race-ethnicity. *Sci Rep* 2023; **13**(1): 3472.
- Lofgren I, Herron K, Zern T, et al. Waist circumference is a better predictor than body mass index of coronary heart disease risk in overweight premenopausal women. *J Nutr* 2004; 134(5): 1071-6.
- 17. Janssen I, Katzmarzyk PT, Ross R. Waist circumference and not body mass index explains obesity-related health risk. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2004; **79**(3): 379-84.
- 18. Iacobini C, Pugliese G, Blasetti Fantauzzi C, Federici M, Menini S. Metabolically healthy versus metabolically unhealthy obesity. *Metabolism* 2019; **92**: 51-60.
- Agius R, Pace NP, Fava S. Phenotyping obesity: A focus on metabolically healthy obesity and metabolically unhealthy normal weight. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* 2024; 40(2): e3725.
- 20. Prado CM, Batsis JA, Donini LM, Gonzalez MC, Siervo M. Sarcopenic obesity in older adults: a clinical overview. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* 2024; **20**(5): 261-77.
- Nedunchezhiyan U, Varughese I, Sun AR, Wu X, Crawford R, Prasadam I. Obesity, Inflammation, and Immune System in Osteoarthritis. *Front Immunol* 2022; 13: 907750.
- 22. Jehan S, Zizi F, Pandi-Perumal SR, et al. Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Obesity: Implications for Public Health. *Sleep Med Disord* 2017; **1**(4).
- 23. Bhattacharya I, Ghayor C, Perez Dominguez A, Weber FE. From Influenza Virus to Novel Corona Virus (SARS-CoV-2)-The Contribution of Obesity. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* 2020; **11**: 556962.
- 24. Cummings MJ, Baldwin MR, Abrams D, et al. Epidemiology, clinical course, and outcomes of critically ill adults with COVID-19 in New York City: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet* 2020; **395**(10239): 1763-70.
- 25. Mancia G, Kreutz R, Brunstrom M, et al. 2023 ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension The Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension: Endorsed by the International Society of Hypertension (ISH) and the European Renal Association (ERA). *J Hypertens* 2023; 41(12): 1874-2071.
- 26. Messerli FH, Williams B, Ritz E. Essential hypertension. *Lancet* 2007; **370**(9587): 591-603.
- 27. Wong TY, Mitchell P. The eye in hypertension. Lancet 2007; 369(9559): 425-35.
- Burnier M, Damianaki A. Hypertension as Cardiovascular Risk Factor in Chronic Kidney Disease. *Circ Res* 2023; 132(8): 1050-63.
- 29. Mills KT, Stefanescu A, He J. The global epidemiology of hypertension. *Nat Rev Nephrol* 2020; **16**(4): 223-37.
- 30. Laakso M. Hyperglycemia and cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 1999; **48**(5): 937-42.

- 31. Lampe MA, Burlingame AL, Whitney J, et al. Human stratum corneum lipids: characterization and regional variations. *J Lipid Res* 1983; **24**(2): 120-30.
- 32. Despres JP, Lemieux I. Abdominal obesity and metabolic syndrome. *Nature* 2006; 444(7121): 881-7.
- 33. Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. *Diabet Med* 1998; **15**(7): 539-53.
- 34. National Cholesterol Education Program Expert Panel on Detection E, Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in A. Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. *Circulation* 2002; **106**(25): 3143-421.
- 35. Chen J, Muntner P, Hamm LL, et al. The metabolic syndrome and chronic kidney disease in U.S. adults. *Ann Intern Med* 2004; **140**(3): 167-74.
- 36. Resnick HE, Jones K, Ruotolo G, et al. Insulin resistance, the metabolic syndrome, and risk of incident cardiovascular disease in nondiabetic american indians: the Strong Heart Study. *Diabetes Care* 2003; **26**(3): 861-7.
- 37. Isomaa B, Almgren P, Tuomi T, et al. Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality associated with the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Care* 2001; **24**(4): 683-9.
- 38. Lakka HM, Laaksonen DE, Lakka TA, et al. The metabolic syndrome and total and cardiovascular disease mortality in middle-aged men. *JAMA* 2002; **288**(21): 2709-16.
- 39. Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health, 2009. World Health Organization. Geneva, Switzerland. Available at: http://www.who.int/ncds/prevention/physical-activity/en/.
- 40. World Health Origanisation. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. 2010.
- 41. Wahid A, Manek N, Nichols M, et al. Quantifying the Association Between Physical Activity and Cardiovascular Disease and Diabetes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Am Heart Assoc* 2016; **5**(9).
- 42. Narendrula A, Brinza E, Horvat Davey C, Longenecker CT, Webel AR. Relationship between objectively measured physical activity and subclinical cardiovascular disease: a systematic review. *BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med* 2024; **10**(1): e001596.
- 43. Oguma Y, Shinoda-Tagawa T. Physical activity decreases cardiovascular disease risk in women: review and meta-analysis. *Am J Prev Med* 2004; **26**(5): 407-18.
- Zhuo C, Zhao J, Chen M, Lu Y. Physical Activity and Risks of Cardiovascular Diseases: A Mendelian Randomization Study. *Front Cardiovasc Med* 2021; 8: 722154.
- 45. Ekelund U, Tarp J, Steene-Johannessen J, et al. Dose-response associations between accelerometry measured physical activity and sedentary time and all cause mortality: systematic review and harmonised meta-analysis. *BMJ* 2019; **366**: 14570.
- 46. Garcia L, Pearce M, Abbas A, et al. Non-occupational physical activity and risk of cardiovascular disease, cancer and mortality outcomes: a dose-response meta-analysis of large prospective studies. *Br J Sports Med* 2023; **57**(15): 979-89.

- 47. Autenrieth CS, Baumert J, Baumeister SE, et al. Association between domains of physical activity and all-cause, cardiovascular and cancer mortality. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2011; **26**(2): 91-9.
- 48. Wei J, Lohman MC, Brown MJ, et al. Physical activity initiated from midlife on risk of dementia and cognitive impairment: The Health and Retirement Study. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 2024.
- 49. Wang Z, Cao Z, Min J, Duan T, Xu C. Associations between device-measured and self-reported physical activity and common mental disorders: Findings from a large-scale prospective cohort study. *BMJ Evid Based Med* 2024.
- Sagelv EH, Dalene KE, Eggen AE, et al. Occupational physical activity and risk of mortality in women and men: the Tromso Study 1986-2021. *Br J Sports Med* 2024; 58(2): 81-8.
- Ji H, Gulati M, Huang TY, et al. Sex Differences in Association of Physical Activity With All-Cause and Cardiovascular Mortality. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2024; 83(8): 783-93.
- 52. Cillekens B, Lang M, van Mechelen W, et al. How does occupational physical activity influence health? An umbrella review of 23 health outcomes across 158 observational studies. *Br J Sports Med* 2020; **54**(24): 1474-81.
- 53. Cillekens B, Huysmans MA, Holtermann A, et al. Physical activity at work may not be health enhancing. A systematic review with meta-analysis on the association between occupational physical activity and cardiovascular disease mortality covering 23 studies with 655 892 participants. *Scand J Work Environ Health* 2022; **48**(2): 86-98.
- 54. Alver SK, Pan S, Mossavar-Rahmani Y, et al. Physical Activity, Cardiovascular Status, Mortality, and Prediabetes in Hispanic and Non-Hispanic Adults. *JAMA Netw Open* 2024; 7(6): e2415094.
- 55. Cao Z, Min J, Chen H, et al. Accelerometer-derived physical activity and mortality in individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Nat Commun* 2024; **15**(1): 5164.
- 56. Mutie PM, Drake I, Ericson U, et al. Different domains of self-reported physical activity and risk of type 2 diabetes in a population-based Swedish cohort: the Malmo diet and Cancer study. *BMC Public Health* 2020; **20**(1): 261.
- Hu G, Sarti C, Jousilahti P, Silventoinen K, Barengo NC, Tuomilehto J. Leisure time, occupational, and commuting physical activity and the risk of stroke. *Stroke* 2005; 36(9): 1994-9.
- 58. Stamatakis E, Ahmadi MN, Elphick TL, et al. Occupational physical activity, allcause, cardiovascular disease, and cancer mortality in 349,248 adults: Prospective and longitudinal analyses of the MJ Cohort. *J Sport Health Sci* 2024; **13**(4): 579-89.
- 59. Rana B, Hu L, Harper A, et al. Occupational Physical Activity and Lung Cancer Risk: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Sports Med* 2020; **50**(9): 1637-51.

- 60. Cillekens B, Huysmans MA, Holtermann A, et al. Re: Cillekens B, Huysmans MA, Holtermann A, van Mechelen W, Straker L, Krause N, van der Beek AJ, Coenen P. Physical activity at work may not be health enhancing. A systematic review with meta-analysis on the association between occupational physical activity and cardiovascular disease mortality covering 23 studies with 655 892 participants. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2022;48(2):86-98. doi:10.5271/sjweh.3993. Scand J Work Environ Health 2023; 49(3): 231-44.
- 61. Li J, Loerbroks A, Angerer P. Physical activity and risk of cardiovascular disease: what does the new epidemiological evidence show? *Curr Opin Cardiol* 2013; **28**(5): 575-83.
- 62. Holtermann A, Krause N, van der Beek AJ, Straker L. The physical activity paradox: six reasons why occupational physical activity (OPA) does not confer the cardiovascular health benefits that leisure time physical activity does. *Br J Sports Med* 2018; **52**(3): 149-50.
- 63. Bray F, Laversanne M, Sung H, et al. Global cancer statistics 2022: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* 2024; **74**(3): 229-63.
- 64. WHO International Agency for Research on Cancer. Estimated number of deaths in 2020, all cancers, both sexes, all ages. Cancer today. 2022.
- 65. Chen S, Cao Z, Prettner K, et al. Estimates and Projections of the Global Economic Cost of 29 Cancers in 204 Countries and Territories From 2020 to 2050. *JAMA Oncol* 2023; **9**(4): 465-72.
- 66. The National Board of Health and Welfare. Statistics on cancer incidence 2022 https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepointdokument/artikelkatalog/statistik/2023-12-8902.pdf.
- 67. CANCERFONDEN. Swedish cancer society report. 2022.
- 68. Turnbull C, Sud A, Houlston RS. Cancer genetics, precision prevention and a call to action. *Nat Genet* 2018; **50**(9): 1212-8.
- Garber JE, Offit K. Hereditary cancer predisposition syndromes. *J Clin Oncol* 2005; 23(2): 276-92.
- 70. Fletcher O, Houlston RS. Architecture of inherited susceptibility to common cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2010; **10**(5): 353-61.
- Chakravarty D, Solit DB. Clinical cancer genomic profiling. *Nat Rev Genet* 2021; 22(8): 483-501.
- 72. Jackson SS, Marks MA, Katki HA, et al. Sex disparities in the incidence of 21 cancer types: Quantification of the contribution of risk factors. *Cancer* 2022; **128**(19): 3531-40.
- 73. Arem H, Loftfield E. Cancer Epidemiology: A Survey of Modifiable Risk Factors for Prevention and Survivorship. *Am J Lifestyle Med* 2018; **12**(3): 200-10.
- 74. World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research. The Third Expert Report, Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity and Cancer: a Global Perspective. 2018.

- 75. White MK, Pagano JS, Khalili K. Viruses and human cancers: a long road of discovery of molecular paradigms. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2014; **27**(3): 463-81.
- 76. Collaborators GBDCRF. The global burden of cancer attributable to risk factors, 2010-19: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *Lancet* 2022; **400**(10352): 563-91.
- 77. Lauby-Secretan B, Scoccianti C, Loomis D, et al. Body Fatness and Cancer--Viewpoint of the IARC Working Group. *N Engl J Med* 2016; **375**(8): 794-8.
- 78. Kyrgiou M, Kalliala I, Markozannes G, et al. Adiposity and cancer at major anatomical sites: umbrella review of the literature. *BMJ* 2017; **356**: j477.
- 79. World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research. Body fatness and weight gain and the risk of cancer. 2018.
- Fang Z, Song M, Lee DH, Giovannucci EL. The Role of Mendelian Randomization Studies in Deciphering the Effect of Obesity on Cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2022; 114(3): 361-71.
- Larsson SC, Burgess S. Causal role of high body mass index in multiple chronic diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis of Mendelian randomization studies. *BMC Med* 2021; 19(1): 320.
- 82. Recalde M, Davila-Batista V, Diaz Y, et al. Body mass index and waist circumference in relation to the risk of 26 types of cancer: a prospective cohort study of 3.5 million adults in Spain. *BMC Med* 2021; **19**(1): 10.
- 83. Parra-Soto S, Cowley ES, Rezende LFM, et al. Associations of six adiposity-related markers with incidence and mortality from 24 cancers-findings from the UK Biobank prospective cohort study. *BMC Med* 2021; **19**(1): 7.
- 84. Renehan AG, Zwahlen M, Egger M. Adiposity and cancer risk: new mechanistic insights from epidemiology. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2015; **15**(8): 484-98.
- 85. Calle EE, Kaaks R. Overweight, obesity and cancer: epidemiological evidence and proposed mechanisms. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2004; **4**(8): 579-91.
- 86. Avgerinos KI, Spyrou N, Mantzoros CS, Dalamaga M. Obesity and cancer risk: Emerging biological mechanisms and perspectives. *Metabolism* 2019; **92**: 121-35.
- 87. Lundberg FE, Birgisson H, Johannesen TB, et al. Survival trends in patients diagnosed with colon and rectal cancer in the nordic countries 1990-2016: The NORDCAN survival studies. *Eur J Cancer* 2022; **172**: 76-84.
- 88. Bardou M, Barkun AN, Martel M. Obesity and colorectal cancer. *Gut* 2013; **62**(6): 933-47.
- 89. Kim H, Giovannucci EL. Sex differences in the association of obesity and colorectal cancer risk. *Cancer Causes Control* 2017; **28**(1): 1-4.
- 90. World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research. Diet, nutrition, physical activity and colorectal cancer. 2017.
- 91. Taylor C, McGale P, Probert J, et al. Breast cancer mortality in 500 000 women with early invasive breast cancer diagnosed in England, 1993-2015: population based observational cohort study. *BMJ* 2023; **381**: e074684.

- 92. Dehesh T, Fadaghi S, Seyedi M, et al. The relation between obesity and breast cancer risk in women by considering menstruation status and geographical variations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Womens Health* 2023; **23**(1): 392.
- 93. Premenopausal Breast Cancer Collaborative G, Schoemaker MJ, Nichols HB, et al. Association of Body Mass Index and Age With Subsequent Breast Cancer Risk in Premenopausal Women. *JAMA Oncol* 2018; **4**(11): e181771.
- 94. Nitta J, Nojima M, Ohnishi H, et al. Weight Gain and Alcohol Drinking Associations with Breast Cancer Risk in Japanese Postmenopausal Women Results from the Japan Collaborative Cohort (JACC) Study. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev* 2016; **17**(3): 1437-43.
- 95. Amadou A, Ferrari P, Muwonge R, et al. Overweight, obesity and risk of premenopausal breast cancer according to ethnicity: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Obes Rev* 2013; **14**(8): 665-78.
- 96. Morice P, Leary A, Creutzberg C, Abu-Rustum N, Darai E. Endometrial cancer. *Lancet* 2016; **387**(10023): 1094-108.
- 97. Crosbie EJ, Kitson SJ, McAlpine JN, Mukhopadhyay A, Powell ME, Singh N. Endometrial cancer. *Lancet* 2022; **399**(10333): 1412-28.
- 98. Bjorge T, Engeland A, Tretli S, Weiderpass E. Body size in relation to cancer of the uterine corpus in 1 million Norwegian women. *Int J Cancer* 2007; **120**(2): 378-83.
- 99. Arnold M, Soerjomataram I, Ferlay J, Forman D. Global incidence of oesophageal cancer by histological subtype in 2012. *Gut* 2015; **64**(3): 381-7.
- 100. Prabhu A, Obi KO, Rubenstein JH. The synergistic effects of alcohol and tobacco consumption on the risk of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma: a meta-analysis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2014; **109**(6): 822-7.
- Qu X, Ben Q, Jiang Y. Consumption of red and processed meat and risk for esophageal squamous cell carcinoma based on a meta-analysis. *Ann Epidemiol* 2013; 23(12): 762-70 e1.
- Chen Y, Tong Y, Yang C, et al. Consumption of hot beverages and foods and the risk of esophageal cancer: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *BMC Cancer* 2015; 15: 449.
- 103. Wu C, Wang Z, Song X, et al. Joint analysis of three genome-wide association studies of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma in Chinese populations. *Nat Genet* 2014; 46(9): 1001-6.
- 104. Lagergren J, Lagergren P. Recent developments in esophageal adenocarcinoma. *CA Cancer J Clin* 2013; **63**(4): 232-48.
- 105. Corrao G, Scotti L, Bagnardi V, Sega R. Hypertension, antihypertensive therapy and renal-cell cancer: a meta-analysis. *Curr Drug Saf* 2007; **2**(2): 125-33.
- 106. Hidayat K, Du X, Zou SY, Shi BM. Blood pressure and kidney cancer risk: metaanalysis of prospective studies. *J Hypertens* 2017; **35**(7): 1333-44.
- 107. Seretis A, Cividini S, Markozannes G, et al. Association between blood pressure and risk of cancer development: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Sci Rep* 2019; **9**(1): 8565.

- 108. Stocks T, Van Hemelrijck M, Manjer J, et al. Blood pressure and risk of cancer incidence and mortality in the Metabolic Syndrome and Cancer Project. *Hypertension* 2012; **59**(4): 802-10.
- 109. Christakoudi S, Kakourou A, Markozannes G, et al. Blood pressure and risk of cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. *Int J Cancer* 2020; **146**(10): 2680-93.
- 110. Chan, II, Kwok MK, Schooling CM. Blood pressure and risk of cancer: a Mendelian randomization study. *BMC Cancer* 2021; **21**(1): 1338.
- 111. Johansson M, Carreras-Torres R, Scelo G, et al. The influence of obesity-related factors in the etiology of renal cell carcinoma-A mendelian randomization study. *PLoS Med* 2019; **16**(1): e1002724.
- 112. Tsilidis KK, Kasimis JC, Lopez DS, Ntzani EE, Ioannidis JP. Type 2 diabetes and cancer: umbrella review of meta-analyses of observational studies. *BMJ* 2015; **350**: g7607.
- 113. Ohkuma T, Peters SAE, Woodward M. Sex differences in the association between diabetes and cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 121 cohorts including 20 million individuals and one million events. *Diabetologia* 2018; **61**(10): 2140-54.
- 114. Ling S, Brown K, Miksza JK, et al. Association of Type 2 Diabetes With Cancer: A Meta-analysis With Bias Analysis for Unmeasured Confounding in 151 Cohorts Comprising 32 Million People. *Diabetes Care* 2020; 43(9): 2313-22.
- 115. Stocks T, Rapp K, Bjorge T, et al. Blood glucose and risk of incident and fatal cancer in the metabolic syndrome and cancer project (me-can): analysis of six prospective cohorts. *PLoS Med* 2009; **6**(12): e1000201.
- 116. Jee SH, Ohrr H, Sull JW, Yun JE, Ji M, Samet JM. Fasting serum glucose level and cancer risk in Korean men and women. *JAMA* 2005; **293**(2): 194-202.
- 117. Silvente-Poirot S, Poirot M. Cancer. Cholesterol and cancer, in the balance. *Science* 2014; **343**(6178): 1445-6.
- 118. Nam SY, Jo J, Cho CM. A population-based cohort study of longitudinal change of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol impact on gastrointestinal cancer risk. *Nat Commun* 2024; **15**(1): 2923.
- 119. Penson P, Long DL, Howard G, et al. Associations between cardiovascular disease, cancer, and very low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in the REasons for Geographical and Racial Differences in Stroke (REGARDS) study. *Cardiovasc Res* 2019; **115**(1): 204-12.
- 120. Wu B, Teng L, He D, Yu DD, Jiang F. Dose-response relation between serum total cholesterol levels and overall cancer risk: evidence from 12 prospective studies involving 1,926,275 participants. *Int J Food Sci Nutr* 2019; **70**(4): 432-41.
- 121. Kitahara CM, Berrington de Gonzalez A, Freedman ND, et al. Total cholesterol and cancer risk in a large prospective study in Korea. *J Clin Oncol* 2011; **29**(12): 1592-8.
- 122. YuPeng L, YuXue Z, PengFei L, et al. Cholesterol Levels in Blood and the Risk of Prostate Cancer: A Meta-analysis of 14 Prospective Studies. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2015; 24(7): 1086-93.

- 123. Benn M, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Stender S, Frikke-Schmidt R, Nordestgaard BG. Lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol and the risk of cancer: a mendelian randomization study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2011; **103**(6): 508-19.
- 124. Borena W, Stocks T, Jonsson H, et al. Serum triglycerides and cancer risk in the metabolic syndrome and cancer (Me-Can) collaborative study. *Cancer Causes Control* 2011; **22**(2): 291-9.
- 125. Esposito K, Chiodini P, Colao A, Lenzi A, Giugliano D. Metabolic syndrome and risk of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care* 2012; **35**(11): 2402-11.
- 126. Stocks T, Bjorge T, Ulmer H, et al. Metabolic risk score and cancer risk: pooled analysis of seven cohorts. *Int J Epidemiol* 2015; **44**(4): 1353-63.
- 127. Haggstrom C, Rapp K, Stocks T, et al. Metabolic factors associated with risk of renal cell carcinoma. *PLoS One* 2013; **8**(2): e57475.
- 128. Rosato V, Bosetti C, Talamini R, et al. Metabolic syndrome and the risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women. *Ann Oncol* 2011; **22**(12): 2687-92.
- 129. Tsatsoulis A, Paschou SA. Metabolically Healthy Obesity: Criteria, Epidemiology, Controversies, and Consequences. *Curr Obes Rep* 2020; **9**(2): 109-20.
- 130. Bluher M. Metabolically Healthy Obesity. Endocr Rev 2020; 41(3).
- 131. Lin CJ, Chang YC, Cheng TY, Lo K, Liu SJ, Yeh TL. The association between metabolically healthy obesity and risk of cancer: A systematic review and metaanalysis of prospective cohort studies. *Obes Rev* 2020; **21**(10): e13049.
- 132. Baumeister SE, Leitzmann MF, Linseisen J, Schlesinger S. Physical Activity and the Risk of Liver Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies and a Bias Analysis. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2019; **111**(11): 1142-51.
- 133. Matthews CE, Moore SC, Arem H, et al. Amount and Intensity of Leisure-Time Physical Activity and Lower Cancer Risk. *J Clin Oncol* 2020; **38**(7): 686-97.
- 134. Arem H, Loftfield E, Saint-Maurice PF, Freedman ND, Matthews CE. Physical activity across the lifespan and liver cancer incidence in the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study cohort. *Cancer Med* 2018; **7**(4): 1450-7.
- 135. Lin ZZ, Xu YC, Liu CX, Lu XL, Wen FY. Physical Activity and Liver Cancer Risk: A Systematic Review and Meta-analyses. *Clin J Sport Med* 2021; **31**(1): 86-90.
- 136. Brown JC, Winters-Stone K, Lee A, Schmitz KH. Cancer, physical activity, and exercise. *Compr Physiol* 2012; **2**(4): 2775-809.
- 137. Ulrich CM, Himbert C, Holowatyj AN, Hursting SD. Energy balance and gastrointestinal cancer: risk, interventions, outcomes and mechanisms. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2018; **15**(11): 683-98.
- 138. Friedenreich CM, Ryder-Burbidge C, McNeil J. Physical activity, obesity and sedentary behavior in cancer etiology: epidemiologic evidence and biologic mechanisms. *Mol Oncol* 2021; **15**(3): 790-800.
- da Silva M, Fritz J, Mboya IB, et al. Cohort profile: The Obesity and Disease Development Sweden (ODDS) study, a pooled cohort. *BMJ Open* 2024; 14(7): e084836.

- 140. Stocks T, Borena W, Strohmaier S, et al. Cohort Profile: The Metabolic syndrome and Cancer project (Me-Can). *Int J Epidemiol* 2010; **39**(3): 660-7.
- 141. Leren P, Askevold EM, Foss OP, et al. The Oslo study. Cardiovascular disease in middle-aged and young Oslo men. *Acta Med Scand Suppl* 1975; **588**: 1-38.
- 142. Bjartveit K, Foss OP, Gjervig T. The cardiovascular disease study in Norwegian counties. Results from first screening. *Acta Med Scand Suppl* 1983; **675**: 1-184.
- 143. Aires N, Selmer R, Thelle D. The validity of self-reported leisure time physical activity, and its relationship to serum cholesterol, blood pressure and body mass index. A population based study of 332,182 men and women aged 40-42 years. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2003; **18**(6): 479-85.
- 144. Norberg M, Wall S, Boman K, Weinehall L. The Vasterbotten Intervention Programme: background, design and implications. *Glob Health Action* 2010; **3**.
- 145. Norberg M, Blomstedt Y, Lonnberg G, et al. Community participation and sustainability--evidence over 25 years in the Vasterbotten Intervention Programme. *Glob Health Action* 2012; **5**: 1-9.
- Berglund G, Nilsson P, Eriksson KF, et al. Long-term outcome of the Malmo preventive project: mortality and cardiovascular morbidity. *J Intern Med* 2000; 247(1): 19-29.
- 147. Ulmer H, Kelleher C, Diem G, Concin H. Long-term tracking of cardiovascular risk factors among men and women in a large population-based health system: the Vorarlberg Health Monitoring & Promotion Programme. *Eur Heart J* 2003; 24(11): 1004-13.
- 148. Berglund G, Elmstahl S, Janzon L, Larsson SA. The Malmo Diet and Cancer Study. Design and feasibility. *J Intern Med* 1993; **233**(1): 45-51.
- 149. Manjer J, Carlsson S, Elmstahl S, et al. The Malmo Diet and Cancer Study: representativity, cancer incidence and mortality in participants and non-participants. *Eur J Cancer Prev* 2001; **10**(6): 489-99.
- Lewington S, Clarke R, Qizilbash N, Peto R, Collins R, Prospective Studies C. Agespecific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies. *Lancet* 2002; 360(9349): 1903-13.
- 151. Rosenblad A. A comparison of blood pressure indices as predictors of all-cause mortality among middle-aged men and women during 701,707 person-years of follow-up. *J Hum Hypertens* 2018; **32**(10): 660-7.
- 152. Ludvigsson JF, Almqvist C, Bonamy AK, et al. Registers of the Swedish total population and their use in medical research. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2016; **31**(2): 125-36.
- 153. Ludvigsson JF, Svedberg P, Olen O, Bruze G, Neovius M. The longitudinal integrated database for health insurance and labour market studies (LISA) and its use in medical research. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2019; **34**(4): 423-37.
- 154. Larsen IK, Smastuen M, Johannesen TB, et al. Data quality at the Cancer Registry of Norway: An overview of comparability, completeness, validity and timeliness. *Eur J Cancer* 2009; 45(7): 1218-31.

- 155. Barlow L, Westergren K, Holmberg L, Talback M. The completeness of the Swedish Cancer Register: a sample survey for year 1998. *Acta Oncol* 2009; **48**(1): 27-33.
- Hackl M, Waldhoer T. Estimation of completeness of case ascertainment of Austrian cancer incidence data using the flow method. *Eur J Public Health* 2013; 23(5): 889-93.
- Bakken IJ, Ellingsen CL, Pedersen AG, et al. Comparison of data from the Cause of Death Registry and the Norwegian Patient Register. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 2015; 135(21): 1949-53.
- Brooke HL, Talback M, Hornblad J, et al. The Swedish cause of death register. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2017; **32**(9): 765-73.
- 159. Gisser R, Jdanov D. "About mortality data for Austria." Country documentation report for the Human Mortality Database. *Available online at www mortality org* 2015.
- 160. Kyrgiou M, Kalliala I, Markozannes G, et al. Adiposity and cancer at major anatomical sites: umbrella review of the literature. *Bmj-Brit Med J* 2017; **356**.
- Harrell FE. Regression Modeling Strategies With Applications to Linear Models, Logistic and Ordinal Regression, and Survival Analysis. *New York: springer* 2001; 608.
- 162. Coviello V, Boggess M. Cumulative incidence estimation in the presence of competing risks. *The Stata Journal* 2004; **4**(2): 103-12.
- 163. Gail MH, Brinton LA, Byar DP, et al. Projecting individualized probabilities of developing breast cancer for white females who are being examined annually. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1989; **81**(24): 1879-86.
- VanderWeele TJ, Knol MJ. A Tutorial on Interaction. *Epidemiologic Methods* 2014; 3(1): 33-72.
- Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Confidence interval estimation of interaction. *Epidemiology* 1992; 3(5): 452-6.
- 166. van Smeden M, Lash TL, Groenwold RHH. Reflection on modern methods: five myths about measurement error in epidemiological research. *Int J Epidemiol* 2020; 49(1): 338-47.
- 167. Pellowe E, Salako K, Snelling S, Urdaibay C, Weston C. Daily variability in waist circumference. *Heart* 2010; **96**(7): 550.
- 168. Fibrinogen Studies C, Wood AM, White I, Thompson SG, Lewington S, Danesh J. Regression dilution methods for meta-analysis: assessing long-term variability in plasma fibrinogen among 27,247 adults in 15 prospective studies. *Int J Epidemiol* 2006; **35**(6): 1570-8.
- 169. Groenwold RH, White IR, Donders AR, Carpenter JR, Altman DG, Moons KG. Missing covariate data in clinical research: when and when not to use the missing-indicator method for analysis. *CMAJ* 2012; **184**(11): 1265-9.
- 170. Jakobsen JC, Gluud C, Wetterslev J, Winkel P. When and how should multiple imputation be used for handling missing data in randomised clinical trials a practical guide with flowcharts. *Bmc Med Res Methodol* 2017; **17**.

- 171. Sterne JA, White IR, Carlin JB, et al. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. *BMJ* 2009; **338**: b2393.
- 172. Bhaskaran K, Douglas I, Forbes H, dos-Santos-Silva I, Leon DA, Smeeth L. Bodymass index and risk of 22 specific cancers: a population-based cohort study of 5.24 million UK adults. *Lancet* 2014; **384**(9945): 755-65.
- 173. Matos A, Marinho-Dias J, Ramalheira S, Oliveira MJ, Bicho M, Ribeiro R. Mechanisms underlying the association between obesity and Hodgkin lymphoma. *Tumour Biol* 2016; **37**(10): 13005-16.
- 174. Barnes KT, McDowell BD, Button A, Smith BJ, Lynch CF, Gupta A. Obesity is associated with increased risk of invasive penile cancer. *BMC Urol* 2016; **16**(1): 42.
- 175. Pati S, Irfan W, Jameel A, Ahmed S, Shahid RK. Obesity and Cancer: A Current Overview of Epidemiology, Pathogenesis, Outcomes, and Management. *Cancers* (*Basel*) 2023; **15**(2).
- 176. Grundy SM, Neeland IJ, Turer AT, Vega GL. Waist circumference as measure of abdominal fat compartments. *J Obes* 2013; **2013**: 454285.
- 177. Barberio AM, Alareeki A, Viner B, et al. Central body fatness is a stronger predictor of cancer risk than overall body size. *Nat Commun* 2019; **10**(1): 383.
- 178. Crudele L, Piccinin E, Moschetta A. Visceral Adiposity and Cancer: Role in Pathogenesis and Prognosis. *Nutrients* 2021; **13**(6).
- 179. Hardy OT, Czech MP, Corvera S. What causes the insulin resistance underlying obesity? *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes* 2012; **19**(2): 81-7.
- Lemieux S, Prud'homme D, Bouchard C, Tremblay A, Despres JP. Sex differences in the relation of visceral adipose tissue accumulation to total body fatness. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1993; 58(4): 463-7.
- 181. Xia B, He Q, Pan Y, et al. Metabolic syndrome and risk of pancreatic cancer: A population-based prospective cohort study. *Int J Cancer* 2020; **147**(12): 3384-93.
- 182. Park JH, Han K, Hong JY, et al. Changes in Metabolic Syndrome Status are Associated With Altered Risk of Pancreatic Cancer: A Nationwide Cohort Study. *Gastroenterology* 2022; **162**(2): 509-20 e7.
- 183. Johansen D, Stocks T, Jonsson H, et al. Metabolic factors and the risk of pancreatic cancer: a prospective analysis of almost 580,000 men and women in the Metabolic Syndrome and Cancer Project. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2010; 19(9): 2307-17.
- 184. Welzel TM, Graubard BI, Zeuzem S, El-Serag HB, Davila JA, McGlynn KA. Metabolic syndrome increases the risk of primary liver cancer in the United States: a study in the SEER-Medicare database. *Hepatology* 2011; **54**(2): 463-71.
- 185. Borena W, Strohmaier S, Lukanova A, et al. Metabolic risk factors and primary liver cancer in a prospective study of 578,700 adults. *Int J Cancer* 2012; **131**(1): 193-200.
- 186. Shen X, Wang Y, Zhao R, et al. Metabolic syndrome and the risk of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2021; **36**(10): 2215-25.

- 187. Stocks T, Lukanova A, Bjorge T, et al. Metabolic factors and the risk of colorectal cancer in 580,000 men and women in the metabolic syndrome and cancer project (Me-Can). *Cancer* 2011; 117(11): 2398-407.
- 188. Cao Z, Zheng X, Yang H, et al. Association of obesity status and metabolic syndrome with site-specific cancers: a population-based cohort study. *Br J Cancer* 2020; **123**(8): 1336-44.
- Rey-Lopez JP, de Rezende LF, Pastor-Valero M, Tess BH. The prevalence of metabolically healthy obesity: a systematic review and critical evaluation of the definitions used. *Obes Rev* 2014; 15(10): 781-90.
- 190. Hinnouho GM, Czernichow S, Dugravot A, Batty GD, Kivimaki M, Singh-Manoux A. Metabolically healthy obesity and risk of mortality: does the definition of metabolic health matter? *Diabetes Care* 2013; 36(8): 2294-300.
- 191. Behrens G, Leitzmann MF. The association between physical activity and renal cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Cancer* 2013; **108**(4): 798-811.
- 192. Nunez C, Clausen J, Jensen MT, Holtermann A, Gyntelberg F, Bauman A. Main and interactive effects of physical activity, fitness and body mass in the prevention of cancer from the Copenhagen Male Study. *Sci Rep* 2018; **8**(1): 11780.
- 193. Jimenez-Munoz CM, Lopez M, Albericio F, Makowski K. Targeting Energy Expenditure-Drugs for Obesity Treatment. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel)* 2021; **14**(5).
- 194. Arterburn DE, Telem DA, Kushner RF, Courcoulas AP. Benefits and Risks of Bariatric Surgery in Adults: A Review. *JAMA* 2020; **324**(9): 879-87.
- 195. O'Brien PE, Hindle A, Brennan L, et al. Long-Term Outcomes After Bariatric Surgery: a Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Weight Loss at 10 or More Years for All Bariatric Procedures and a Single-Centre Review of 20-Year Outcomes After Adjustable Gastric Banding. *Obes Surg* 2019; 29(1): 3-14.
- 196. Cheung YB, Gao F, Khoo KS. Age at diagnosis and the choice of survival analysis methods in cancer epidemiology. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2003; **56**(1): 38-43.
- 197. Korn EL, Graubard BI, Midthune D. Time-to-event analysis of longitudinal followup of a survey: choice of the time-scale. *Am J Epidemiol* 1997; **145**(1): 72-80.
- 198. Chia YC, Ching SM, Ooi PB, et al. Measurement accuracy and reliability of self-reported versus measured weight and height among adults in Malaysia: Findings from a nationwide blood pressure screening programme. *PLoS One* 2023; 18(1): e0280483.
- 199. Fayyaz K, Bataineh MF, Ali HI, Al-Nawaiseh AM, Al-Rifai RH, Shahbaz HM. Validity of Measured vs. Self-Reported Weight and Height and Practical Considerations for Enhancing Reliability in Clinical and Epidemiological Studies: A Systematic Review. *Nutrients* 2024; 16(11).
- 200. Watkinson C, van Sluijs EM, Sutton S, Hardeman W, Corder K, Griffin SJ. Overestimation of physical activity level is associated with lower BMI: a crosssectional analysis. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* 2010; 7: 68.
- 201. Curtis RG, Olds T, Plotnikoff R, et al. Validity and bias on the online active Australia survey: activity level and participant factors associated with self-report bias. *Bmc Med Res Methodol* 2020; **20**(1): 6.

- 202. Slootmaker SM, Schuit AJ, Chinapaw MJ, Seidell JC, van Mechelen W. Disagreement in physical activity assessed by accelerometer and self-report in subgroups of age, gender, education and weight status. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act* 2009; 6: 17.
- 203. VanderWeele TJ, Ding P. Sensitivity Analysis in Observational Research: Introducing the E-Value. *Ann Intern Med* 2017; **167**(4): 268-74.
- 204. Gelman A. You need 16 times the sample size to estimate an interaction than to estimate a main effect. https://statmodeling.stat.columbia.edu/2018/03/15/need16/.